# Marquette University e-Publications@Marquette

Master's Theses (2009 -)

Dissertations, Theses, and Professional Projects

# Electrocoagulation-Electrooxidation for Mitigating Trace Organic Compounds in Model Source Waters

Donald R. Ryan Marquette University

**Recommended** Citation

Ryan, Donald R., "Electrocoagulation-Electrooxidation for Mitigating Trace Organic Compounds in Model Source Waters" (2019). *Master's Theses* (2009 -). 530. https://epublications.marquette.edu/theses\_open/530 Electrocoagulation-Electrooxidation for Mitigating Trace Organic Compounds

in Model Source Waters

by

Donald Rockwood Ryan

A Thesis submitted to the Faculty of the Graduate School, Marquette University, in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Master of Science and Engineering

Milwaukee, Wisconsin

May 2019

# ABSTRACT ELECTROCOAGULATION-ELECTROOXIDATION FOR MITIGATING TRACE ORGANIC COMPOUNDS IN MODEL SOURCE WATERS

Donald Rockwood Ryan

Marquette University, 2019

Conventional coagulation and oxidation are well suited for many drinking water operations to meet regulatory requirements for safe drinking water. However, these processes require auxiliary chemicals and materials that must be transported from offsite, which increases complexity of operations, and can pose difficulties for small treatment systems. Electrochemistry offers an innovative method to induce coagulation and oxidation processes for water treatment. Electrocoagulation (EC) together with electrooxidation (EO) is an attractive option for drinking water treatment systems because these processes generate iron coagulants using iron EC electrodes and oxidants (e.g., free chlorine and reactive oxygen species) using boron-doped diamond EO electrodes. This research evaluated the performance of combined EC-EO as a water treatment process for mitigating trace organic compounds in model groundwaters and surface waters. The trace organic compounds evaluated were acyclovir, trimethoprim, and benzyldimethyldecylammonium chloride (BAC-C10). These compounds represent different classes of trace organics found in source waters for drinking water treatment facilities. EO-only removed greater than 70% of acyclovir and trimethoprim in model groundwater matrices, but negligible BAC-C10 was removed relative to control experiments. Alternately, in surface waters, EO-only treatment was effective for BAC-C10 removal, but not for acyclovir and trimethoprim removal. EC-EO for model surface water treatment removed  $73.5 \pm 1.25\%$  of dissolved organic carbon and improved downstream EO treatment of acyclovir, trimethoprim, and BAC-C10 by factors of 3.4, 1.7, and 1.4, respectively based on mean removal. However, EC-EO of model groundwater improved removal for only BAC-C10 (factor of 5.2 improvement), whereas ACY and TMP removal did not improve. BAC-C10 removal via EC-EO in groundwater was attributed to the particle separation step. EO was generally more energy efficient in treating model groundwaters than model surface waters. EC-EO improved the energy demands for treating model river water.

# ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to thank the Water Innovation Network for Sustainable Small Systems for funding the research associated with this project. Through this research journey, I've continually been reminded that as researchers we stand on the shoulders of giants. As such, I want to thank the variety of people that have had an important role in enriching my graduate journey. I would like to thank all of my colleagues at the Water Quality Center for helping me transition to graduate school and build my laboratory and research skills. I also would like to thank the members of my Masters advisory committee: Drs. Brooke Mayer, Patrick McNamara, and Kyana Young. Each day I'm thankful to have three mentors that not only provide me an opportunity to act on my curiosity in environmental engineering, but also take time to help me reflect on how our laboratory results fit into the encompassing field of drinking water treatment.

# **DEDICATION**

I would like to dedicate this work to my parents, DeAnna and Chuck West for their continued love and support throughout my academic journey. In addition I would like to dedicate this thesis to my friends both new and old, from my friends back home in Oklahoma, to newer friendships that have developed in Wisconsin. To my friends back home, thank you for always being a source of support since I've made the move up north and also for staying in touch to see how this new chapter has gone. To my newer friendships in Milwaukee, thank you for making Milwaukee feel like home.

# **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

Acknowledgements	i
Dedication	ii
Table of Contents	iii
List of Tables	v
List of Figures	vi
1. Introduction	1
1.1 Motivation for Work	1
1.2 Objectives	4
2. Literature Review	5
2.1. Trace Organic Compounds	5
2.2. Physicochemical Drinking Water Treatment for Trace Organic Compound Mitigation: Conventional Treatment and Advanced Oxidation Processes	11
2.2.1 Electrical Energy Inputs	12
2.2.2 The Impact of Initial Water Quality on Contaminant Mitigation by Physicochemica Water Treatment Processes	al 13
2.3. Electrochemistry	14
2.3.1 Electrochemical Water Treatment	16
2.3.1.1 Electrocoagulation	17
2.3.1.2 Electrooxidation	20
2.3.1.3 Combined Electrocoagulation-Electrooxidation	24
2.4. Summary of Research Needs	25
2.5. Research Objectives	26
3. Methodology	27
3.1 Electrooxidation Experiments	27
3.2 Electrocoagulation-Electrooxidation Sequence Experiments	28
3.2.1.1. EC Procedure	28
3.2.1.2. Iron dose and Faraday's Law	29
3.2.1.3. EC-EO Procedure	30
3.2.1.4. Control Experiments	30
3.3 Synthetic Water Matrices	31
3.4 Analytical	33
3.4.1 Trace Organic Compound Quantification Using LC-MS	33
3.4.2 Total Organic Carbon Analysis	34
3.4.3 Iron Quantification	35
3.5 Electrical Energy Demand Analysis	35

3.6 Statistical Analysis	36
Results & Discussion	37
4.1 The Impact of Water Quality on Boron-Doped Diamond Electrooxidation	37
4.1.2 The Impact of Water Matrix Constituents: Chloride, Alkalinity, and Dissolved Organi	ic
Carbon	37
4.1.2.1. Chloride	37
4.1.2.2. Alkalinity	39
4.1.2.3. Dissolved Organic Carbon	41
4.1.3. The Efficacy of Boron-Doped Diamond Electrooxidation in Varying Water Quality Surface Waters and Groundwaters	42
4.1.4. The Impact of Source Water Quality on Electrical Energy Demand	47
4.2 The Impact of Electrocoagulation Pretreatment on Boron-Doped Diamond Electrooxidation	49
4.2.1. Impact of Electrocoagulation on Dissolved Organic Carbon	50
4.2.1.1 The Impact of pH on Dissolved Organic Carbon Removal	50
4.2.1.2 Point of Diminishing Return Analysis of System Parameters: DOC removal, Iron Dose, $UV_{254}$ Reduction, and Residual Iron	52
4.2.2 Electrocoagulation-Electrooxidation Removal of Trace Organic Compounds	54
4.2.2.1. Relative Contribution of Electrocoagulation and Electrooxidation Processes	55
4.2.2.2. Impact of Electrocoagulation Pretreatment on Electrical Energy Demands: The Prospect of Electrochemical Process Synergy	57
5. Conclusions	59
5.1. Key Findings	59
5.2. Future Work	61
7. Bibliography	64
6. Appendix	77
6.1 Trace Organic Compound Molecular Structure	77
6.1. Sample Quenching	78
6.2. Faradaic Efficiency	79
6.3. Pearson Correlation of Simple Electrolyte Matrices	80
6.4. Reactive Oxygen Species Generation	80
6.5. Electrical Energy Demand Analysis	81
6.6. Relative Rate Reduction	82
6.7. The Impact of Electrochemical Treatment on pH	84

# LIST OF TABLES

Table 1: Summary of physicochemical properties of TOrCs in this study.   8
Table 2: Electrochemical half reactions relevant to water treatment
Table 3 Studies reviewed by Särkkä et al. (2015b) focused on iron electrocoagulation for NOM mitigation.   19
Table 4: Summary of different studies utilizing BDD-EO for TOrC removal
Table 6 Percent removal due to full EC-EO controls in model river water and model shallow aquifer; Data reported are from single experiments
Table 7 Percent removal from filtration controls in <i>model river water</i> . Data shown are the average of quadruplicate tests.   31
Table 8: Water Matrices
Table 9: LC-MS 2020 information for method utilized to quantify TOrCs

# LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1: The impact of chloride on electrooxidation of ACY, TMP, and BAC-C10 using boron- doped diamond electrodes at 14.8 mA/cm <sup>2</sup> for 5 minutes
Figure 2: The impact of alkalinity on electrooxidation of ACY, TMP, and BAC-C10 using boron- doped diamond electrodes operated at 14.8 mA/cm <sup>2</sup> for 5 minutes
Figure 3: The impact of dissolved organic carbon on electrooxidation of ACY, TMP, and BAC- C10 by boron-doped diamond electrodes at 14.8 mA/cm <sup>2</sup> for 5 minutes
Figure 4: Electrooxidation of trace organics using boron-doped diamond electrodes at 14.8 mA/cm <sup>2</sup> for 20 min in varying water matrices
Figure 5: The speculated mechanism of BAC-C10 removal via surface oxidation
Figure 6: Electrical energy demand after 20 minutes of electrooxidation at 14.8 mA/cm <sup>2</sup> for each model source water
Figure 7: Electrocoagulation (EC) of dissolved organic carbon (DOC) in the model river water matrix at pH 8.1 (as defined for the matrix) versus pH 6 (reflecting enhanced coagulation conditions)
Figure 8: A) Dissolved organic carbon (DOC) removal using electrocoagulation (EC
Figure 9: Effect of electrocoagulation (EC) pretreatment ahead of electrooxidation (EO) in variable water matrices
Figure 10: Process contribution of TOrC mitigation using sequential electrocoagulation (EC)- electrooxidation (EO) in <i>model river water</i> and <i>model deep aquifer</i>
Figure 11: Electrical energy demand of EC-EO treatment compared to EO-only treatment

#### **1. INTRODUCTION**

This work focused on a combination of physicochemical water treatment processes, electrocoagulation-electrooxidation, to mitigate trace organic compounds. These technologies were analyzed with respect to their trace organic compound removal capabilities in varying source waters, each with different challenges. The concomitant energy demand required for operation was also assessed.

## **1.1 Motivation for Work**

Trace organic compounds (TOrCs) include a wide range of compound classes such as pharmaceuticals and personal care products, industrial products, hormones, and pesticides (Bieber et al., 2018; Kolpin et al., 2002; Schwarzenbach et al., 2006). TOrCs, particularly personal care products, have been measured in receiving waters downstream of water resource reclamation facilities (WRRFs) since as early as 1977, when metabolites of aspirin and clofibrate were measured in WRRF effluent (Hignite and Azarnoff, 1977). Advances in analytical chemistry have further highlighted the prevalence of TOrCs in water by offering more thorough quantification of the waterborne occurrence of common compounds found in commercial and personal care products (Kolpin et al., 2002). The extent of impacts on organisms in waters affected by TOrCs is unknown as there are many synthetic compounds used each day that may contribute to the ambiguous mélange of compounds present in aquatic systems. These compounds are not reported as acutely toxic to human health at concentrations present in surface waters; however, the chronic toxicity of these compounds may indirectly impact human health

1

via avenues including endocrine disruption, increased cancer rates, antibiotic resistance, and antiviral resistance (Jain et al., 2013; Kolpin et al., 2002).

Drinking water treatment plants (DWTPs) are responsible for treating water before public distribution, and WRRFs are critical in mitigating waste and pollution before release into ecosystems. Hence, optimization of TOrC mitigation technologies is an important task for both DWTPs and WRRFs to combat potential exposure to these contaminants. Rising demands for clean water in response to stressors such as increasing population, increases in drought frequency, and global climate change (Vörösmarty et al., 2000) may drive utilities to rely on TOrC-laden water sources, such as reclaimed water, to enhance existing supplies of clean drinking water (USEPA, 2012a).

Unfortunately, conventional treatment processes used by both DWTPs and WRRFs do not completely remove TOrCs (Kolpin et al., 2002; Schwarzenbach et al., 2006; Westerhoff et al., 2005). The recalcitrant nature of TOrCs requires advanced water treatment regimes such as advanced oxidation processes (AOPs), granular activated carbon (GAC), or membrane filtration (MF) to minimize TOrC occurrence in water. AOPs are physicochemical treatment processes that employ highly reactive hydroxyl radical species (HO•) to treat waters at ambient temperatures (Crittenden et al., 2012). AOPs offer a promising alternative to conventional treatment processes and advanced separation processes such as GAC and MF as AOPs can transform contaminants into mineralization products such as carbon dioxide.

Electrochemical water treatment can be used as an AOP and also provides a multi-barrier physicochemical water treatment approach for TOrC mitigation by combining coagulation, flocculation, and chlorination. In electrochemical water treatment, electrodes are employed to produce water treatment chemicals *in-situ* via electrolysis of different electrode materials. Electrocoagulation (EC) can be used to dose common coagulants such as iron and aluminum by the anodic dissolution of sacrificial electrodes. Electrooxidation (EO) uses non-sacrificial electrode materials, such as borondoped diamond, to promote water oxidation through homogeneous and heterogeneous reaction pathways. EC and EO may provide an effective combined treatment process capable of mitigating TOrCs. Specifically, EC could be used as a preliminary treatment process to remove common oxidant scavengers, such as dissolved organic carbon (DOC), thereby improving subsequent downstream treatment of TOrCs via EO.

# **1.2 Objectives**

The main objective of this work was to assess the efficacy of combined EC-EO water treatment in mitigating TOrCs in model source water matrices. The first objective was to evaluate the performance of EO as a sole treatment process in model source waters. This objective included two components, the first of which was to test source water constituents (HCO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup>, Cl<sup>-</sup>, and DOC) at a range of concentrations relevant to natural water to elucidate the impact of each parameter on TOrC removal. The second component focused on assessing the performance of EO in more complex mixtures modeled after real surface and groundwater sources. It was hypothesized that ions such as Cl<sup>-</sup> would improve TOrC removal in EO via electrochemical conversion to oxidants, such as free chlorine, while HCO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> and DOC would inhibit removal due to oxidant scavenging.

The second objective focused on the combined EC-EO treatment process for TOrC removal to assess if preliminary EC treatment improved removal during EO. It was hypothesized that preliminary EC would remove oxidant scavengers such as DOC, and improve downstream treatment by EO by decreasing the oxidant demand of the EO influent, thus providing a cleaner matrix for active oxidants to target TOrCs. The electrical energy demand was evaluated to assess these hypotheses.

#### **2. LITERATURE REVIEW**

### 2.1. Trace Organic Compounds

TOrCs are increasingly recognized as emerging contaminants due to the recent rise in antibiotic resistance, antiviral resistance, and potential for endocrine disruption (Daughton and Ternes, 1999; Jain et al., 2013; Jones et al., 2003). TOrCs generally enter aquatic systems due to incomplete removal during WRRF processes (Kolpin et al., 2002). After TOrCs enter aquatic systems, they can potentially enter drinking water sources (Furlong et al., 2017). Although the low concentrations of individual TOrCs (low ng/L) may assuage concerns, when the total TOrC mass is considered, potential risks and unknown impacts cannot be discounted as a possible chronic problem for public health (Daughton and Ternes, 1999; Schwarzenbach et al., 2006). For example, Wang et al. (2017) used advanced MS techniques for non-targeted analysis to gain greater understanding of the molecular composition of the complex mixture of organic compounds in source waters. They reported 2452 different molecular formulas across 20 different source waters, with 1092 of the molecular formulas present in 90% of the samples. The USGS conducted a nationwide study of 25 different source waters before and after drinking water treatment (Furlong et al., 2017). Their targeted analysis detected 118 pharmaceuticals, where 47 pharmaceuticals were common across each source. The samples collected following drinking water treatment generally showed reduction of the parent compounds; however, reduction of the parent compound does not negate concerns over transformation products. The most frequently detected TOrCs that passed through

drinking water treatment were bupropion, metoprolol, carbamazepine, and cotinine (Furlong et al., 2017).

Westerhoff et al. (2005) assessed the impact of simulated drinking water treatment processes (coagulation, powdered activated carbon, chlorination, and ozonation) in mitigating 62 different TOrCs. Coagulation experiments removed only a fraction of TOrCs, with more than 75% of TOrCs being removed less than 20% via alum coagulation. The addition of powdered activated carbon to coagulation improved removal of more volatile TOrCs, potentially due to higher octanol-water partition coefficients associated with different compounds. The process that generally had the largest contribution to TOrC abatement was ozonation (although TOrCs such as iopromide were recalcitrant). Westerhoff et al.'s (2005) findings suggest that TOrCs may generally be recalcitrant to conventional treatment processes unless advanced treatment processes such as ozone or powdered activated carbon are employed. In addition to this study, Ternes et al. (2002) investigated the impact of conventional drinking water treatment and found that granular activated carbon may also be a generally effective option for TOrC mitigation.

This thesis focuses on three TOrCs from three different compound classes: acyclovir (ACY, an antiviral), trimethoprim (TMP, an antibiotic), and benzyldimethyldecylammonium chloride (BAC-C10, an antimicrobial). These compounds feature a variety of physicochemical properties with respect to their acid-base character, charge, log K<sub>ow</sub>, K<sub>H</sub>, and reactivity with different oxidants (Table 1).

	Trace Organic Compound (TOrC)				
Parameter	Trimethoprim	Acyclovir	Benzyldimethyldecyl ammonium chloride (BAC-C10)		
pKa	7.21 (cation at pH < 7.21, otherwise neutral molecule)	2.27, 9.25 (cation at pH < 2.27, zwitterion at pH 2.27-9.25, anion at pH > 9.25)	(cation at all pH levels)		
Acid base properties	Weak base	Amphoteric	-		
log K <sub>ow</sub> <sup>a</sup>	0.91	-1.56	1.95(est)		
$K_{\rm H}$ , atm-m <sup>3</sup> mol <sup>-1</sup>	2.39E-014 <sup>a</sup>	3.18E-022 <sup>a</sup>	4.32E-012 <sup>a</sup>		
$k_{HO}$ , $M^{-1} s^{-1}$	1.22× 10 <sup>11 a</sup> 8.7 × 10 <sup>9 b</sup>	$4.78  imes 10^{10}$ a 5 $ imes 10^{9}$ d	2.29E+10 <sup>a</sup>		
$k_{O3}, M^{-1} s^{-1}$	$4.3 \times 10^{5}$ (apparent) at pH = 7.7 b	$2.5 \times 10^2 \text{ (anion)} - 3.4 \times 10^6 \text{ (cation)}^{\circ}$	Not available		
$k_{HOCI}$ at $pH = 8$ , $M^{-1} s^{-1}$	$1.1 \times 10^{-1} (\pm 2\%)^{d}$	$9.9  imes 10^0 \ (\pm 24\%)^d$	Not available		
<sup>a</sup> Values from EPI SUITE V. 4.1 (USEPA, 2012b).					
<sup>b</sup> Values from Dodd	et al. (2006).				

Table 1: Summary of physicochemical properties of TOrCs in this study.

<sup>c</sup> Values from Prasse et al. (2012).

<sup>d</sup> Values from Barazesh et al. (2016).

Trace organic compound structure provided in Figure A1.

ACY was the most commonly detected antiviral in a nationwide survey of 25 different waters, where it was detected in 44% of source waters and 8% of treated potable waters (Furlong et al., 2017). ACY is a nucleoside analog, which is a compound that can be used to treat a variety of viral infections, e.g., herpes simplex virus and varicella zoster virus (Jain et al., 2013). Based on the frequent occurrence of antivirals such as ACY, there may be concerns of antiviral resistance due to chronic exposure and pseudopersistence in source waters (Jain et al., 2013). For example, environmentally relevant concentrations (1 µg/L) of oseltamivir (Tamiflu ®) were associated with antiviral resistance in mallards. The development of antiviral resistance in wild birds may raise concerns of anti-viral resistant influenza mutations that may cross species (Järhult et al.,

2011). To date, no studies have been conducted on environmental antiviral resistance due to ACY.

Physicochemical properties of nucleoside analogs may be important to consider in studies focused on TOrC abatement as these compounds have unique properties like high water solubility and zwitterionic character over a range of pH conditions (Table 1). Zwitterions can bear both a positive and negative charge as a function of pH. ACY has a zwitterionic fraction between pH = 2.27 and 9.25, where the compound will predominantly be cationic in acidic conditions and anionic in basic conditions; the combined charges in the zwitterion will make the compound neutral. This unique characteristic impacts ACY reactivity with different oxidants. For example, Prasse et al. (2012) found that the second order rate constant for ACY with ozone varied 4-orders of magnitude between pH 1.7 and 8.5. The cationic form of ACY was most amenable to ozonation.

Following sulfamethoxazole, TMP was the second most commonly detected antibiotic in the USGS study (Furlong et al., 2017). This high occurrence of TMP makes sense as TMP and sulfamethoxazole are generally prescribed in the same mixture due to their synergetic antibiotic impact (Bushby, 1975). Nationwide, TMP was qualitatively detected (present, but below the limit of quantification) in 28% of water sources, and 8% of treated potable water (Furlong et al., 2017). TMP is a commonly studied antibiotic for assessing advanced treatment process performance (Barazesh et al., 2016; Garcia-Segura et al., 2015; González et al., 2011; R. Zhang et al., 2016; Y. Zhang et al., 2016), so existing TMP removal data may be compared to other work. TMP can have a range of reactivity with different oxidants utilized during water treatment (Dodd et al., 2006; Dodd and Huang, 2007). Dodd and Huang (2007) investigated the reactivity of TMP with HOCl and found that TMP can react with HOCl between pH 3 and 9, but reactions were most likely at neutral pH. The moiety oxidized by chlorine shifts as a function of pH, leading to different chlorinated transformation products depending on the part of the compound that is oxidized. TMP was also highly reactive with ozone as a function of pH, where the second order rate constants were higher between pH 7 and 8 (Dodd et al., 2006), Accordingly, TMP may be most reactive with conventional oxidants at neutral pH conditions, typical of drinking water treatment.

Benzalkonium chlorides (BAC) are mixtures of quaternary ammonium antimicrobial compounds commonly used as hospital disinfectants. The antimicrobial properties of BAC may lead to it being increasingly incorporated into antimicrobial products labeled "triclosan-free" following the ban on triclosan usage in "consumer antiseptic washes" in September 2017 (Food and Drug Administration, 2017). Consequently, BAC compounds may enter source waters where they could potentially inhibit cellular function such as cholesterol biosynthesis (Herron et al., 2016) or confer other indirect impacts such as antimicrobial resistance (Kümmerer, 2009; Langsrud et al., 2004), However, little research is available regarding BAC removal during conventional drinking water treatment processes. BAC also exhibits unique properties with respect to other TOrCs because it is a surfactant that can form micelles, and it is a permanent cation across all pH conditions due to the quaternary ammonium moiety (Smith et al., 2002). The micellar properties of this compound may enhance its removal by physicochemical processes such as adsorption due to the large spheres formed (Baek et al., 2006). Adsorption and oxidation mechanisms are likely to remove BAC based on

studies focusing on activated carbon cloth (Duman and Ayranci, 2010) and ozonation (Hernández-Leal et al., 2011). Hernández-Leal et al. (2011) reported 98% removal of BAC following 45 minutes of ozone treatment in Milli-Q water. In real grey water matrices, ozonation removed BAC to below the limit of quantification.

# **2.2.** Physicochemical Drinking Water Treatment for Trace Organic Compound Mitigation: Conventional Treatment and Advanced Oxidation Processes

Coagulation is a common physicochemical drinking water process in which metal salts, typically aluminum-based or iron-based, are added to water to remove contaminants. During this process, metals destabilize colloidal matter. Particles then aggregate together to form flocs during flocculation (Crittenden et al., 2012). Enhanced coagulation targets removal of natural organic matter (e.g., dissolved organic carbon [DOC]) rather than solely turbidity and color. Improved DOC removal is achieved by increased coagulant doses or improved charge neutralization resulting from lowering the pH to influence the surface charge and solubility of large organics comprising natural organic matter (Edzwald and Tobiason, 1999; Kastl et al., 2004; Volk et al., 2000).

AOPs are physicochemical drinking water processes that generate HO• to degrade large organics as well as refractory trace organics. HO• are nonselective oxidants with a higher oxidizing potential ( $E^0 = 2.73$  V) compared to common disinfectants like chlorine ( $E^0 = 1.36$  V) (Copeland and Lytle, 2014; Pignatello et al., 2006; Rush et al., 1990; Westerhoff et al., 1999). These strong oxidants are an alternative for drinking water treatment because they are able to convert recalcitrant contaminants (e.g., TOrCs) to mineralization products ( $CO_2 + H_2O$ ) when they are effectively implemented. AOPs offer a different removal mechanism compared to processes such as coagulation-flocculationsedimentation and GAC, which physically remove compounds, but do not degrade them.

# **2.2.1 Electrical Energy Inputs**

Electrical energy per order (EEO) is a quantitative assessment that can be used to evaluate the efficacy of a physicochemical treatment process, such as AOPs, in mitigating contaminants (Bolton et al., 2001). EEO is generally expressed as the energy input per cubic meter of water treated to achieve 1 order of magnitude reduction (kWh/m<sup>3</sup>). Here, EEO will be referred to as "electrical energy demand".

Conventional treatment (coagulation + flocculation + sedimentation + filtration) has energy consumption ranging from 0.05 - 0.15 kWh/m<sup>3</sup> overall (Howe et al., 2012). Advanced water treatment processes, particularly AOPs and reverse osmosis, are generally more energy intensive than conventional treatment processes. Energy consumption for AOPs depends on the process employed (Howe et al., 2012; Vince et al., 2008), e.g., O<sub>3</sub> and O<sub>3</sub>/H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> range from 0.05 - 0.125 kWh/m<sup>3</sup>, whereas UV/H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> can range from 0.06 - 1 kWh/m<sup>3</sup>. At this time, reverse osmosis is generally the most energy intensive treatment process, depending on the water matrix. Brackish water reverse osmosis requires 0.6 - 1.7 kWh/m<sup>3</sup> and sea water reverse osmosis requires 3.5 - 7 kWh/m<sup>3</sup> (Howe et al., 2012; Vince et al., 2008). Based on these values, the energy consumption for advanced treatment technologies used for TOrC mitigation should not exceed 7 kWh/m<sup>3</sup> in a scaled up process for it to be a favorable competitor with existing advanced water treatment technologies.

# **2.2.2** The Impact of Initial Water Quality on Contaminant Mitigation by Physicochemical Water Treatment Processes

Natural organic matter (NOM) is ubiquitous in natural waters. NOM cannot be expressed by a single molecular structure because its structure is a function of biogeochemical processes that occur in each unique ecosystem. NOM is generally defined as a bulk parameter describing a complex system of conjugated aromatics with differing polar functional group content (e.g., carboxylic acids and phenols) (Leenheer, 1981; Thurman, 1985a). These macro-organic compounds are of interest in drinking water treatment because they can hinder the efficacy of treatment processes such as filtration, scavenge oxidants, and serve as precursors to chronically toxic disinfection byproducts. In particular, the high concentration of NOM relative to TOrCs (typically mg/L versus ng/L, respectively) may strongly inhibit TOrC degradation via oxidation processes.

Bulk parameters are often used to broadly characterize NOM in order to assess how it is removed or transformed in physicochemical treatment processes. Dissolved organic carbon (DOC) is often used to quantify NOM and UV<sub>254</sub> is commonly used to assess structural characteristics of NOM, i.e., the degree of aromatic structures. DOC is a measure of the oxidizable carbon present in water samples containing no inorganic carbon that have passed through a 0.45  $\mu$ m filter. UV<sub>254</sub> is used to assess the degree of NOM aromaticity in a water sample. High aromaticity may exert a higher oxidant demand due to the high electron density, which may be selectively oxidized by electrophilic oxidants such as ozone. In addition, UV<sub>254</sub> has been used as a parameter to assess the possible formation of disinfection byproducts (Edzwald et al., 1985). Water quality parameters have a large impact on AOP effectiveness. Alkalinity and DOC can greatly hinder AOP performance by scavenging HO•. Due to the deleterious impacts of oxidant scavengers, a multi-barrier water treatment approach is needed to ensure that upstream processes, like coagulation and flocculation, will provide sufficient pretreatment to advanced water treatment processes such that AOPs, for example, can better target more recalcitrant contaminants such as TOrCs.

# 2.3. Electrochemistry

Electrochemistry is a field of chemistry focused on the flow of electrons that cause electrical energy in a system due to the electromotive force, or cell potential ( $E^{0}_{cell}$ ). The electrical energy produced or required enacts chemical change through a series of redox reactions. These reactions consist of two half reactions, where one cell reaction is an oxidation and the other is a reduction. In order for these reactions to occur, the thermodynamic conditions must be met by the  $E^{0}_{cell}$  resulting from the electrochemical cell configuration. When  $E^{0}_{cell}$  is positive, it is indicative of a spontaneous reaction. Examples of half-cell reactions relevant to electrochemical treatment are provided in Table 2.

Half Reaction	E <sup>0</sup> (Volts)	Electrochemical Reaction
	(vs. Standard	
	Hydrogen	
	Electrode)	
$2Cl^{-} \leftrightarrow Cl_{2} + 2e^{-a}$	-1.358	Anode oxidation
$Fe \leftrightarrow Fe^{2+} + 2e^{-a}$	0.441	Anode oxidation
$\mathrm{Fe}^{3+} + \mathrm{e}^{-} \leftrightarrow \mathrm{Fe}^{2+a}$	0.771	Cathode reduction
$H_2O \leftrightarrow (1/2) O_2 + 2H^+ + 2e^{-a}$	-1.229	Anode oxidation
$H_2 O {\longleftrightarrow} H_2 O_2 + 2 H^{+ \ b}$	-1.763	Cathode reduction

Table 2: Electrochemical half reactions relevant to water treatment

Electrochemical systems are further subdivided into two different categories: galvanic cells and electrolytic cells. An electrochemical cell consists of three parts: conductive electrode materials (anodes and cathodes), an electrolyte solution to carry the flow of electrons, and electrical contact where the electrodes are connected by the electrolyte solution. In a galvanic cell,  $E^{0}_{cell}$  is a result of the electrode configuration, and the potential difference between the electrodes drives the reaction. Galvanic cells take multiple forms in real world systems, such as batteries that provide electrical energy based on the potential difference between electrode materials, or corrosion in water distribution systems between metals in electrical contact. Alternately, in an electrolytic cell the potential is provided from an external battery to supply the electromotive force for the reaction, making nonspontaneous reactions possible, e.g., iron dissolution via anodic oxidation (Table 2). In an electrolytic cell, oxidation half reactions occur at the anode, and reduction half reactions occur at the cathode. Electrochemical water treatment processes are carried out in electrolytic cells. Electrocoagulation (EC) is a result of the electrolytic dissolution of sacrificial iron anode materials. In an EC reactor, the iron is

oxidized to ferrous iron (Fe<sup>2+</sup>) and enters the solution as a coagulant. Electrooxidation (EO) processes do not utilize sacrificial anode material; rather, inactive electrode materials undergo electrolysis.

# **2.3.1 Electrochemical Water Treatment**

Electrochemistry also serves as an emerging method for physicochemical water treatment processes wherein electrodes are employed to produce water treatment chemicals *in-situ* via electrolysis of different electrode materials. EC doses common coagulants such as iron and aluminum by anodic dissolution of sacrificial electrodes. EO uses non-sacrificial electrode materials, such as boron-doped diamond, to promote oxidation reactions. Electrochemical water treatment may facilitate multi-barrier physiochemical water treatment processes capable of mitigating TOrCs by a combination of processes: coagulation, flocculation, sedimentation, advanced oxidation, and chlorination. Flotation due to bubble generation at the cathode may also be a potential removal pathway in electrochemical treatment for volatile TOrCs; however, the TOrCs in this assessment have low Henry's constant  $(10^{-12} - 10^{-22} \text{ atm-m}^3 \text{-mol}^{-1})$  (Table 1) and are not expected to be removed via volatilization.

Current density and charge loading rate are metrics used to estimate the electrochemical dose applied to a system. Current density is a measure of the charge applied to the system relative to the submerged surface area facing the cathode in solution (mA/cm<sup>2</sup>). Charge loading rate is a measure of the charge applied to a liter of solution per unit time (Coulomb/L-time). Current density may also be used to estimate the amount of coagulant added via EC using Faraday's Law (equation 1 in *Section 3.2.1.1*). These

values can be used as a means of comparing electrochemical doses among electrochemical processes employed in other studies.

## **2.3.1.1 Electrocoagulation**

EC is highly similar to conventional coagulation, with the primary difference being that iron or aluminum coagulants are generated *in-situ*. *In-situ* generation gives EC a competitive advantage over conventional coagulation because less auxiliary chemicals are required as the primary chemicals are generated within the reactor.

EC has demonstrated efficacy in treating a range of wastewaters such as municipal wastewater, tannery wastewater, and textile effluent (Chen, 2004; Emamjomeh and Sivakumar, 2009). In the early 1980s, Weintraub et al. (1983) demonstrated that EC was effective in treating oily wastewater. The treatment was ascribed to a combined mechanistic process in which electro-generated coagulant destabilized oily emulsions and encouraged metal-hydroxide precipitation and corresponding flocculation. The electrogenerated bubbles provided additional separation by inducing an electroflotation process. EC decreased the emulsion concentration from 300 - 7000 mg/L to less than 10 mg/L of effluent oil. Khandegar and Saroha (2013) reviewed the use of EC as an alternative treatment process for textile industry effluent. Conventional industrial water treatment may utilize biological treatment or AOPs, which may be hindered either by excessive amounts of oxidant scavengers or toxicity to biological treatment's active microbial communities. Of note, the dyes present in these effluents are of particular concern due to their associated toxicity and the resulting color of the effluent. EC offers a promising alternative to biological treatment and AOPs for textile industry effluent due to dye decolorization resulting from *in-situ* coagulation processes wherein the metal

hydroxides are capable of agglomerating various solids present as well as adsorbing hydrophobic wastewater constituents (Khandegar and Saroha, 2013).

Beyond demonstrating viability as a competitive technology for treatment of wastewaters, EC has shown promise as a treatment technology for drinking waters from both groundwater and surface water sources. EC has been investigated as a means for implementing coagulation for treating surface water since the early 1980s (Nikolaev et al., 1982; Vik et al., 1984). Vik et al. (1984) compared aluminum EC to conventional coagulation dosed by aluminum salts as a treatment technique for producing potable water and found that EC generally performed the same in removing aquatic NOM, but EC-treated water did not have extra salts that are concomitantly added with aluminum coagulants. Nikolaev et al. (1982) investigated aluminum EC in tandem with two-stage filtration (filtration-EC-filtration) as a treatment technique for small, rural water systems, and found that this treatment approach removed 90-92% of suspended solids and 85-90% of color. These early studies provide ground work for studies investigating the use of EC as a means of generating coagulant *in-situ* for producing potable water.

Another criterion that demonstrates the potential of EC to treat source water is its effectiveness in removing DOC. For example, Ulu et al. (2014) reported approximately 87% removal of humic acid (DOC<sub>initial</sub> = 16.2 mg-C/L) following EC at pH 4 for 25 minutes. Dubrawski and Mohseni (2013) investigated parameters used in EC reactor design with respect to NOM removal using iron-EC. They found that optimum NOM removal was the result of using a current density of approximately 10 mA/cm<sup>2</sup>, leading to 73% DOC removal (DOC<sub>initial</sub> =13.8 mg-C/L). In addition to these studies, Särkkä et al. (2015b) reviewed the efficacy of EC and EO in mitigating NOM. Generally, DOC or

humic acid removal of 70 - 95% was reported (Table 3). These studies demonstrate that EC may be a competitive treatment technology for mitigation of NOM in source water matrices.

DOC\_initialRemovalReference500 mg Humic/L92.7%(Evki Yildiz et al., 2007)10 mg-C/L80%(Ben-Sasson et al., 2013)10 mg Humic Acid/L95.3%(Ghernaout et al., 2014)

Table 3 Studies reviewed by Särkkä et al. (2015b) focused on iron electrocoagulation for NOM mitigation.

Additional studies have focused on the use of EC in removing trace metal contaminants such as arsenic and chromium VI (Heffron et al., 2016; Li et al., 2012; Mohora et al., 2012). Mohora et al. (2012) found that EC was effective in removing 85% of arsenic from raw groundwater using a continuous flow aluminum-EC process. Heffron et al. (2016) investigated the removal of a suite of trace metal contaminants (arsenic, cadmium, chromium, lead, and nickel) using iron and aluminum EC and found that EC paired with filtration (0.45  $\mu$ m) was effective in removing trace metals from synthetic groundwaters.

As described in this section, EC is capable of treating a wide range of common waterborne contaminants from wastewater as well as source water-relevant contaminants like NOM and trace metals. Accordingly, EC may mitigate oxidant scavengers like NOM and colloidal matter, thereby serving as a promising pretreatment technology ahead of downstream processes targeting TOrC abatement of source waters.

#### **2.3.1.2 Electrooxidation**

Electrode materials can be classified as active or inactive electrodes. Active electrodes generate HO•, and these radicals react with the electrode surface (M) to form a metal-oxide (Reaction 1). Inactive electrodes are electrode materials that do not react with electro-generated HO• (Reaction 2) (Marselli et al., 2003). Reaction 1 is characteristic of inactive higher-oxide electrodes like mixed metal oxides, whereas Reaction 2 is typical for electrodes like BDD. In Reaction 2, HO• does not react with M, and M is left over in the products while HO• participates in intermediate reactions to form oxygen. In comparison, in Reaction 1, M is oxidized to MO and oxygen (and corresponding reactive oxygen species) are not formed.

$$M(\text{HO} \bullet) \to \text{MO} + H^+ + e^- (Reaction 1)$$
$$M(\text{HO} \bullet) \to \text{M} + \frac{1}{2}O_2 + H^+ + e^- (Reaction 2)$$

BDD are inactive electrodes with high anode stability, which allows high oxygen overpotentials (Chaplin, 2014; Chen, 2004; Marselli et al., 2003). High oxygen overpotentials are required in order to produce HO•, as HO• are an intermediate produced prior to oxygen evolution (Chaplin, 2014). Due to these novel electrode properties, BDD have recently gained more attention for electrochemical water treatment via EO processes.

BDD-EO is an oxidation process capable of producing a myriad of oxidant species. Electrochemical-based oxidation methods, such as BDD-EO, are complex, featuring a variety of homogeneous oxidants in solution and heterogeneous reactions occurring on the electrode surface. Potential homogeneous oxidation pathways may include reactive oxygen species (ROS), such as O<sub>3</sub>, H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>, <sup>1</sup>O<sub>2</sub>, and HO•. Others include activated electrolytes such as sulfate species (sulfate radicals, peroxodisulfate), carbonate species (carbonate radicals, peroxycarbonates), phosphate species (monoperoxy phosphoric acid), chloride-derived species (Cl•, HOCl, perchlorate, chlorate), and potentially ferrate (Cañizares et al., 2009; Hu et al., 2009; Jeong et al., 2006; Marselli et al., 2003; Michaud et al., 2003; Rajab et al., 2015; Sáez et al., 2008; Saha et al., 2003).

Heterogeneous oxidation reactions occur in EO on or near the electrode surface by a combination of direct electron transfer reactions with the anode material, surface sorbed HO•, and surface sorbed chlorine radicals (Barazesh et al., 2016; Bejan et al., 2012; Marselli et al., 2003). Oxidation reactions can occur on the electrode surface as HO• form there due to water oxidation, but HO• have also been shown to dissociate from the electrode surface and act as homogeneous oxidants (Bejan et al., 2012).

The role of ROS is another unclear, yet relevant, mechanism associated with EO. Jeong et al. (2006) investigated the role of ROS in chloride-free waters in microbial disinfection and found that HO• were the primary oxidant responsible for inactivation. Jeong et al. (2006) speculated that H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> formation was due to HO• recombination/dimerization (HO• + HO•  $\rightarrow$  H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>) because H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> formed during electrolysis, but did not form under conditions in which HO• were quenched with tertbutyl alcohol. The prospect of O<sub>3</sub> production via BDD electrolysis is also unclear. Jeong et al. (2006) did not measure detectable O<sub>3</sub> at the current densities tested (33 – 83 mA/cm<sup>2</sup>). However, other studies measured 0 – 0.62 mg- O<sub>3</sub>/L production using the indigo method (Bader and Hoigne, 1982) in high current density conditions above 42 mA/cm<sup>2</sup> (Rajab et al., 2015; Ureña de Vivanco et al., 2013). HOCl production has also been demonstrated in studies focused on disinfection of chloride-containing waters (Boudreau et al., 2010; Jasper et al., 2017; Kraft et al., 1999; Pérez et al., 2010; Polcaro et al., 2009; Särkkä et al., 2015a; Schmalz et al., 2009). Although the prospect of *in-situ* free chlorine generation is an attractive option for water treatment processes, the true extent of chlorine generation may be difficult to quantify. Conventional chlorine quantification methods such as DPD use probe compounds, and other oxidants produced via EO, such as  $O_3$  and  $H_2O_2$ , can interfere with accurate quantification of HOCl (EPA, 2009).

The identity of active oxidants during EO remains a challenge in water treatment research because oxidants can interact with contaminants either via homogeneous or heterogeneous pathways. Additionally, oxidants can be formed as a function of innate electrolytes in solution as well as the applied current density and the cell potential of the system. The presence of varying electrolytes in natural waters (e.g., Cl<sup>-</sup>, CO<sub>3</sub><sup>2-</sup>, SO<sub>4</sub><sup>-</sup>, and PO<sub>4</sub><sup>2-</sup>) may quickly complicate predicted EO processes, as the removal ascribed to one electrolyte, such as Cl<sup>-</sup>, may not be accurate if other electrolytes are present that can be transformed into oxidants. This ambiguity may present a problem in real systems as each oxidant exerts a different reactivity with different contaminants. For example, O<sub>3</sub> is selective and highly electrophilic, whereas HO• are generally considered nonselective. Other oxidants, e.g., HOCl and H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>, are capable of microbial disinfection and provide a residual disinfectant, but generally have low reactivity with TOrCs.

The electrical energy demands for TOrC mitigation via EO processes have been less studied than conventional AOPs. Lanzarini-Lopes et al. (2017) investigated the impact of different current density and organic loading on EO process efficiency by quantifying mineralization current efficiency, EEO, and first order rate constants to assess efficiency. As the applied current density increased, the first order rate constant of para-chlorobenzoic acid improved. However, the resulting EEO increased and mineralization efficiency decreased. A current density of 16.6 mA/cm<sup>2</sup> resulted in an EEO of 39.3 kWh/m<sup>3</sup>-order, a mineralization current efficiency of 30.8%, and a first order rate constant of 7.64 \*10<sup>-5</sup> s<sup>-1</sup> for para-chlorobenzoic acid removal. Values associated with a higher current density of 100 mA/cm<sup>2</sup> were 331.8 kWh/m<sup>3</sup>-order, 4.8%, and 1.07\*10<sup>-4</sup> s<sup>-1</sup>. These data suggest that a higher current density may improve the kinetics of organic compound degradation, however, the increased energy demands and hindered mineralization current efficiency may hurt overall process efficiency in scaled up systems (Lanzarini-Lopes et al., 2017).

BDD-EO has demonstrated removal of organics in a variety of wastewaters and some studies have also investigated EO for TOrC mitigation (Särkkä et al., 2015a). For example, Chaplin et al. (2010) demonstrated that BDD-EO was an effective process for removing N-nitrosodimethylamine (NDMA) from RO concentrates. Garcia-Segura et al. (2015) investigated the use of BDD-EO in tertiary wastewater by evaluating the removal of DOC, chemical oxygen demand (COD), and 29 target TOrCs. DOC and COD were effectively mineralized after 2 hours using 196 A/m<sup>2</sup> (19.6 mA/cm<sup>2</sup>) at pH = 3. TOrCs were generally removed after 2 hours of electrolysis; however, more recalcitrant TOrCs, such as atrazine and iodinated x-ray contrast media, required as much as 24 hours of electrolysis to be fully removed. The concentration of bulk organics relative to TOrCs may have greatly hindered removal due to oxidant scavenging because each TOrC was present at 100 µg/L whereas bulk organics were present at 21 ± 2 mg-O<sub>2</sub>/L COD, and

 $22.7 \pm 0.5$  mg-C/L DOC. In addition to these studies, Table 4 summarizes other studies that investigated the efficacy of BDD-EO in TOrC mitigation. These studies were generally conducted in simple electrolyte solutions and exhibited high TOrC removal over different electrolysis times and current densities.

TOrC	Ci	Current	Time	Removal	Matrix	Reference
		Density				
		mA/ cm <sup>2</sup>				
Estrone	500	10	10 minutes	85 - 98%	0.1 M	Brocenschi et al.,
	ug/L		(with NaCl)		$Na_2SO_4$	(2016)
			30 minutes		or	
			(w/o NaCl)		0.1 M	
					$Na_2SO_4$	
					+0.36mM	
					Cl-	
E2	500	12.5 - 50	30 - 40	100%	0.1 M	Murugananthan et
	ug/L		minutes		$Na_2SO_4$	al., (2007)
BPA	20	25-35.7	5 – 9 hours	100%	0.1 M	Yoshihara and
	mg/L				Na2SO4	Murugananthan,
						(2009)
Sulfamethoxaz	50	33.3	160 minutes	100%	0.05 M	Murillo-Sierra et al.
ole (SMX) +	mg/L		(TMP) –		Na2SO4	(2018)
Trimethoprim	SMX		360 minutes			
Mixture	+11.1		(SMX)			
	mg/L					
	TMP					

Table 4: Summary of different studies utilizing BDD-EO for TOrC removal

# 2.3.1.3 Combined Electrocoagulation-Electrooxidation

Electrochemical pretreatment has been used in prior studies in which EC was utilized to pretreat water before a downstream process. For example, EC has shown promise as a pretreatment to membrane filtration for NOM mitigation (Ben-Sasson et al., 2013; Dubrawski et al., 2013). EC has also been paired with EO for treating different wastewater matrices such as municipal wastewater (Cotillas et al., 2013); industrial wastewater (Linares-Hernández et al., 2010); and other high COD wastewater such as dairy, gelatin, and coffee effluent (Belaid et al., 2017; Ibarra-Taquez et al., 2017; Kruthika et al., 2013). In these studies, combined treatment was either conducted in the same reactor or as a sequential system in which EC was followed by EO. Linares-Hernández et al. (2010) studied the impact of EC, using iron electrodes, as a pretreatment to downstream EO for industrial wastewater using BDD electrodes. In their study, EO required up to 21 hours at a current density of 80 mA/cm<sup>2</sup> in order to mineralize persistent organics. However, when preliminary EC was employed for 30 minutes, the treatment time needed for mineralization of organics decreased to 90 minutes, or less than 10% of the original EO-only electrolysis time. This synergy was attributed to EC's efficacy in removing 52% of the initial 890 mg/L COD; here, the COD was attributed to large organics (suspended particles, colloids). Following mitigation of large organics and particles, EO was more effective in targeting persistent organics for mineralization. These studies focused on wastewaters indicate that combined EC-EO may have synergy in a variety of matrices due to EC's capability in removing a wide range of oxidant scavenging contaminants, which subsequently allows oxidants produced via EO to better target contaminants such as microbes and organics.

#### 2.4. Summary of Research Needs

The studies described in this review suggest that advanced water treatment processes are needed to mitigate TOrCs, as these compounds are generally resistant to conventional treatment processes. Prior studies have demonstrated that EO may be an effective treatment for TOrC mitigation in a range of water matrices due to *in-situ* oxidant generation. However, the presence of bulk organics generally increased the required treatment times substantially, alluding to a need for preliminary treatment, such as EC, to maximize removal efficiency. Combined EC-EO has demonstrated synergy in high-strength wastewater matrices due to the removal of bulk organics that inhibit EO processes. However, research is lacking that focuses on using EC-EO for treating drinking water source matrices with respect to the removal of TOrCs

# 2.5. Research Objectives

This thesis research focused on using combined EC-EO as a method of TOrC mitigation in model groundwater and surface water matrices. The efficacy of this treatment train was assessed by investigating the removal of three TOrCs as a function of source water quality. Additionally, the electrical energy demand required for TOrC mitigation was evaluated, which may prove useful in comparing electrochemical treatment to other processes with respect to associated energy demands for operation.

<u>Objective 1:</u> Evaluate the performance of EO as a sole treatment process in TOrC mitigation in model source waters.

<u>Hypothesis:</u> Source water constituents such as Cl<sup>-</sup> will improve TOrC removal in EO via electrochemical conversion to oxidants, such as free chlorine, while  $HCO_3^-$  and DOC will inhibit removal by scavenging oxidants produced by EO.  $HCO_3^-$  and DOC are prominent oxidant scavengers in water because they are present at concentrations orders of magnitude higher than TOrCs.

<u>Objective 2:</u> Evaluate the performance of combined EC-EO in TOrC mitigation in model source waters.

<u>Hypothesis:</u> EC will remove oxidant scavengers such as DOC, and improve downstream TOrC treatment by EO by decreasing the oxidant demand of the EO influent.

## **3. METHODOLOGY**

# **3.1 Electrooxidation Experiments**

Boron-doped diamond electrodes (BDD/Nb substrate) (Fraunhofer, Lansing, MI) were used for this study. Before conducting EO experiments, the electrodes were cleaned and polarized by electrolysis in a 0.2 M HCl solution at a current density of 3.70 mA/cm<sup>2</sup> for 5 minutes, as recommended by the manufacturer. EO experiments were conducted at a current density of 14.8 mA/cm<sup>2</sup> (i = 200 mA, A=13.5 cm<sup>2</sup>, inner electrode distance = 1 cm), which is a mid-range value relative to other EO studies using BDD (Garcia-Segura et al., 2015; Murillo-Sierra et al., 2018; Zhang et al., 2016). Tests were run for 5 minutes for experiments focused on the impact of innate water quality, and 20 minutes for those focused on source water quality. An extended EO electrolysis time of 20 minutes was used in experiments conducted in model source water matrices to assess the extent of removal in more realistic water matrices. The stir rate for all EO experiments was 200 rpm to simulate a rapid mixing phase. Batch reactors were 250-mL Berzelius beakers without a spout that were fitted with 3D printed electrode caps. Electrodes were arranged in the caps to provide a submerged surface area of approximately 13.5 cm<sup>2</sup> and an innerelectrode distance of 1 cm. The applied charge per volume of water was 83.3 and 333 mA-h/L for 5 minutes and 20 minutes, respectively. Preliminary tests were conducted to evaluate whether thiosulfate quenching was needed to stop TOrC reactions following EO. Results showed that quenching had no impact on TOrC removal (Figure A2), so subsequent samples were not quenched prior to LC-MS analysis.

### **3.2 Electrocoagulation-Electrooxidation Sequence Experiments**

# **3.2.1.1. EC Procedure**

Prior to EC experiments, iron electrodes (Vmetals, Milwaukee, WI) were sanded with 320 grit silicon carbide sandpaper to remove rust and corrosion products. The electrodes then underwent electrolysis at 7.4 mA/cm<sup>2</sup> for 10 minutes in the test water matrix to pretreat the iron electrodes to the test water matrix conditions, and simulate continual use during a conventional process. This iron electrode cleaning method may better simulate EC in real water treatment systems as the iron electrode does not undergo extensive treatment such as acid polarization. After iron electrode preparation, the electrodes were rinsed with deionized water and placed in the EC reactors.

The same beakers and electrode caps used for EO were also used for EC reactors. The electrodes had a submerged surface area of 13.5 cm<sup>2</sup> with an inner-electrode distance of 1 cm. EC experiments were conducted in batch conditions to simulate conventional coagulation jar tests. In these experiments, iron electrolysis was operated with rapid mixing at 200 rpm. During electrolysis, a polarity reversal time of 30 seconds was used to prevent electrode passivation by preventing the buildup of excess ferrous ions on the anode surface. This time was selected based on previous studies analyzing EC reactor performance (Maher et al., 2018). The current applied to the system varied between 1.85 and 11.1 mA/cm<sup>2</sup> depending on the iron dose used for the experiment. After iron-electrolysis, electrodes were removed from the solution, and the solution was flocculated for 10 minutes at 60 rpm. Following the flocculation phase, the samples settled for 15 minutes to separate the agglomerated flocs from the bulk solution. For enhanced
coagulation, adjustments to pH were made using HCl in order to match the supporting electrolyte. The final chloride concentration resulting from pH adjustment was approximately 60 mg-Cl<sup>-</sup>/L (measured with Hach model 8-P chloride test kits), which may slightly increase downstream TOrC removal during EO based on free chlorine generation.

## 3.2.1.2. Iron dose and Faraday's Law

In these experiments, iron was dosed into the solution by varying the current and maintaining a consistent electrolysis time. The theoretical electrolysis time required to achieve the desired iron dose was calculated using Faraday's Law (Equation 1), as described by Gu et al. (2009).

Dosing rate 
$$\left(\frac{mmol}{cm^2min}\right) = \frac{i}{F \cdot z} \times \frac{60s}{min}$$
 Equation 1

where *i* represents the current density in mA/cm<sup>2</sup>, F represents the Faraday's constant (9648 Coulomb/mol), and *z* is the number of electrons transferred via the electrochemical reaction.

Here it was assumed that z = 2 based on work showing that Fe<sup>2+</sup> is the iron species initially generated via electrocoagulation (Lakshmanan et al., 2009). The faradaic yield of iron with respect to current density is discussed in Appendix 6.2. The electrodes used for this study were faradaic efficient, meaning that they delivered the anticipated iron dose to the solution.

#### **3.2.1.3. EC-EO Procedure**

After the settling phase of EC, 150 mL was transferred from the reactor using a 50-mL sterile pipette and was vacuum filtered through Whatman (Maidstone, United Kingdom) 114 filter paper (pore size = 25  $\mu$ m). A filtration step followed EC to remove large agglomerated iron flocs that did not settle during the settling phase. After filtration, the water was added to the EO batch reactor, where the samples underwent electrolysis at 14.8 mA/cm<sup>2</sup> (*i* = 145 mA, A = 9.8 cm<sup>2</sup>) for 20 minutes. In EC-EO experiments, the EO current was adjusted to maintain the applied current density accounting for changes in solution volume and submerged electrode depth.

## **3.2.1.4.** Control Experiments

Control tests were conducted in the reactor without electricity to assess potential TOrC losses due to the reactor setup, such as glass adsorption. Controls for EO-only tests were run in *model lake water* for 20 minutes under the same conditions detailed in *Section 3.1*, but without electricity. Three technical replicates of each control were used to assess variance in the experimental methods. BAC-C10 had the most removal from glassware, with  $15 \pm 5\%$ . ACY and TMP had less removal in the controls, at  $-0.7 \pm 1.9\%$  and  $3.6 \pm 0.8\%$ , respectively.

Control tests without electricity were also conducted to determine TOrC losses due to the EC-EO sequence in *model river water* and *model shallow aquifer* (Table 6). In addition, a particle separation control test was conducted to determine losses due to the 25 µm filtration step in *model river water* (Table 7).

CompoundModel River WaterModel Shallow<br/>AquiferBAC-C1019.631.4TMP7.552ACY0.03-10

Table 5 Percent removal due to full EC-EO controls in *model river water* and *model shallow aquifer*; Data reported are from single experiments

Table 6 Percent removal from filtration controls in *model river water*. Data shown are the average of quadruplicate tests.

	Average	Standard deviation
BAC-C10	21.2	6.66
TMP	13.8	11.7
ACY	2.50	1.01

# **3.3 Synthetic Water Matrices**

All experiments were conducted in synthetic waters to either simulate weak electrolyte solutions, or model source waters. Experiments were performed in simple electrolyte solutions in order to determine the contribution of different source water constituents to the overall removal of TOrCs. These experiments supplemented analysis of the model source waters in order to better understand the specific contribution of each water constituent. In these experiments, an electrolyte concentration and pH were fixed, and the parameter of interest was varied (Table 8). Following the experiments to assess the impact of individual water constituents, experiments were conducted in model source water matrices by varying multiple parameters simultaneously to determine the efficacy of EO in different challenge waters (Table 8). Model surface water matrix composition was designed according to Mississippi River and Lake Michigan water quality data, and model groundwater matrix composition was designed according to groundwater quality data from Kewaunee and Waukesha Counties (Heffron, 2019).

Simple Electrolyte Waters						
Test	Alkalinity, mg/L as CaCO <sub>3</sub>	Chloride, mg/L	DOC, mg-C/L	pH initial	Conductivity, μS/cm	
Bicarbonate Buffer Matrix	179	0	0	7.75	315	
(HCO <sub>3</sub> —B)						
Low Chloride	179	5	0	7.5	335	
Mid Chloride	179	20	0	7.5	400	
High Chloride	179	40	0	7.5	475	
No DOC	95.2	13.3	0	8.1	250	
Low DOC	95.2	13.3	2	8.1	250	
High DOC	95.2	13.3	8	8.1	250	
Low Alkalinity	100	16.6	0	7.5	255	
Mid Alkalinity	200	16.6	0	7.5	432	
High Alkalinity	300	16.6	0	7.5	584	
Synthetic Source Waters						
Model lake water (MLW)	95.0	13.3	1.5	8.25	250	
Model river water (MRW)	119	11.4	8.0	8.1	300	
Model shallow aquifer (MSA)	178	3.80	0	7.5	360	
Model deep aquifer (MDA)	226	70.4	0	7.5	690	

# Table 7: Water Matrices.

The synthetic waters were adjusted to target levels using A2 fine test dust (Powder Technology Inc, Arden Hills, WI), humic acid sodium salt (technical grade, Sigma Aldrich, St. Louis, MO), potassium chloride (ACS grade, FisherScientific, Hampton, NH), and sodium bicarbonate (ACS grade, FisherScientific). The TOrCs included acyclovir (ACY; reference grade, Sigma Aldrich), trimethoprim (TMP; Tokyo Chemical Industry, Tokyo, Japan), and benzyldimethyldecylammonium chloride (BAC-C10; >97%, Sigma Aldrich).

After preparation of synthetic water matrices, bulk solutions were spiked with TOrCs to achieve a concentration of 200  $\mu$ g/L of each TOrC. BAC-C10 and TMP were dissolved in HPLC-grade methanol, and ACY was dissolved in Milli-Q water. The BAC-C10 and TMP were added as methanol solutions for a final methanol concentration of 0.05% v/v. This small volume of methanol relative to bulk solution volume is expected to minimize co-solvent effects attributed to methanol (Tong et al., 2016). ACY was dissolved in a separate stock solution because ACY is insoluble in methanol at high concentrations, and BAC-C10 and TMP are insoluble in water at high concentrations (Table 1).

#### 3.4 Analytical

# 3.4.1 Trace Organic Compound Quantification Using LC-MS

All TOrC samples were filtered through a 0.22-µm PTFE syringe filter (Agela Technologies, Wilmington, DE) and blended with HPLC-grade methanol (80% sample, 20% methanol) prior to analysis. TOrCs (ACY, TMP, and BAC-C10) were quantified using a Shimadzu (Kyoto, Japan) Liquid Chromatography Mass Spectrometer (LC-MS

2020). For these analyses, 0.1% formic acid served as the mobile phase (Pump A) and HPLC-grade methanol served as the organic phase (Pump B). The pump flow rate was 0.2 mL/min. The chromatographic conditions are provided in Table 9.

Time, Minutes	Organic Phase Percent of Flow (%)	
0	15	
8	50	
12	50	
14	100	
16	50	
18	15	
25	15	
26	End of run	

Table 8: LC-MS 2020 information for method utilized to quantify TOrCs.

Ten-point standard curves were used with concentrations ranging from 4  $\mu$ g/L to 400  $\mu$ g/L to capture a range of TOrC concentrations. Each standard curve was prepared in the respective water matrix to normalize LC-MS response to the ionic interference present in each unique matrix. Concentration data was determined via LC-MS spectral data to calculate percent removal relative to the initial concentration.

#### 3.4.2 Total Organic Carbon Analysis

All DOC samples were filtered through a 0.45-µm PTFE syringe filter (Agela Technologies, Wilmington, DE) and acidified with HCl to pH 3 before analysis. DOC was measured using a Shimadzu TOC-V<sub>CSN</sub> equipped with a Shimadzu ASI-V autosampler. All sample bottles used for TOC analysis were prepared to eliminate organic demand by steeping them in a 5% HCl acid bath solution for a minimum of 12 hours. Following acid washing, bottles were triple rinsed with deionized water, and baked at 550 °C for one hour.

### **3.4.3 Iron Quantification**

Iron produced via EC was measured to assess the faradaic efficiency of the iron electrodes. Additionally, the residual iron (iron remaining in solution after EC and particle separation) was quantified. All iron samples were measured using a 7700 series ICP-MS (Agilent Technologies, Santa Clara, CA) following acid digestion in a solution containing 4% HNO<sub>3</sub> and 1% HCl. Information regarding faradaic efficiency of iron electrodes in delivering iron dose is shown in Figure A4.

## **3.5 Electrical Energy Demand Analysis**

Electrical energy per order of magnitude reduction (electrical energy demand) was analyzed as a quantitative figure of merit to assess the energy demands associated with electrochemical treatment (Bolton et al., 2001). During each test, the voltage reading on the power supply was used to assess the power demand for each water matrix. Power was calculated using P = VI and the electrical energy demand (kWh/m<sup>3</sup>) for batch processes was estimated using Equation 2 (Radjenovic and Sedlak, 2015).

$$EEO = \frac{Pt}{V \log \frac{C_0}{C}}$$
 Equation 2

where P represents the power required for treatment (kW), t represents the duration of treatment (hours), V is the volume of the water in batch conditions ( $m^3$ ), and C and C<sub>0</sub> are units of concentration (e.g., mg/L).

# **3.6 Statistical Analysis**

Statistical analyses were performed using the Microsoft Excel statistics package and GraphPad Prism 7 software. GraphPad Prism 7 was used to estimate Pearson correlation coefficients in order to assess the impact of specific water quality parameters on TOrC removal and electrical energy demand, and also to conduct ANOVA, t-test, and Grubbs test for outliers analyses ( $\alpha$ =0.05 for all statistical analyses).

# **RESULTS & DISCUSSION**

#### 4.1 The Impact of Water Quality on Boron-Doped Diamond Electrooxidation

EO experiments were conducted in simple electrolyte solutions and model water matrices. The simple electrolyte experiments provide data on the specific impacts of each electrolyte on TOrC removal, and the model water data detail the performance of EO in TOrC mitigation in representative source waters.

# 4.1.2 The Impact of Water Matrix Constituents: Chloride, Alkalinity, and Dissolved Organic Carbon

#### 4.1.2.1. Chloride

. Without chloride, TMP removal was approximately  $12.3 \pm 2.0\%$ , whereas removal improved to  $48.5 \pm 1.0\%$  after five minutes of BDD-EO in waters with as little as 5 mg-Cl<sup>-</sup>/L(Figure 1). However, beyond 5 mg-Cl<sup>-</sup>/L, greater chloride additions (20 and 40 mg-Cl<sup>-</sup>/L) did not significantly enhance TOrC removal (p=0.137). Pearson correlation analysis showed a statistically significant positive relationship between background chloride concentration and TMP removal (p=0.0001) (Table A1). However, increased chloride did not statistically increase removal of ACY and BAC-C10 in any scenario (p=0.250 and 0.308, respectively) (Table A1).



Figure 1: The impact of chloride on electrooxidation of ACY, TMP, and BAC-C10 using boron-doped diamond electrodes at 14.8 mA/cm<sup>2</sup> for 5 minutes. Tests were conducted in  $3.5 \text{ mM HCO}_3^-$  electrolyte solution. The symbols represent mean values of triplicate experiments. Error bars show  $\pm 1$  standard error.

TMP was generally removed to a greater extent than ACY and BAC-C10. Reported rate constants indicate that TMP is generally more reactive with electrogenerated oxidants (HO•, O<sub>3</sub>, and HOCl) than ACY (Table 1). Activity of these oxidants may support why TMP had the largest removal. The presence of H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> (Figure A5) may indicate the dimerization of electrochemically produced HO• (HO• + HO•  $\rightarrow$  H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>) (Jeong et al., 2006), although HO• production was not assessed in this thesis. Additionally, O<sub>3</sub> was measured at very low concentrations (Figure A5). These oxidants are continually produced at low concentrations via electrolysis, and may react at a rate similar to the rate at which they are produced. Therefore, the primary oxidant generated in EO cannot be verified in this study.

Chloride was negatively correlated to electrical energy demand for ACY and TMP (p<0.05) (Table A1). These data support claims that groundwaters, which typically have higher chloride concentrations than surface waters, may be more amenable to

electrochemical treatment with respect to energy demands. However, risks regarding inorganic chlorinated byproducts should be considered in higher chloride conditions (Jasper et al., 2017).

#### 4.1.2.2. Alkalinity

Alkalinity (primarily  $HCO_3^-$  and  $CO_3^{-2-}$ ) is a significant oxidant scavenger in AOPs used in drinking water treatment as these ions are generally present in waters at concentrations orders of magnitude higher than the target contaminants (Crittenden et al., 2012). Increased alkalinity significantly decreased the mean removal of TMP (p=0.001), but did not impact ACY or BAC-C10 (p = 0.158 and 0.258, respectively) (Figure 2). These different TOrC removal trends may suggest that TMP is susceptible to electrochemically generated homogeneous oxidants (O<sub>3</sub>, HO•, and HOCl) that are impeded by alkalinity, whereas ACY and BAC-C10 may be removed by oxidation on the anode surface.

The insignificant impact of alkalinity for removal of some TOrCs may be a unique phenomenon in electrochemical systems. Chaplin et al. (2010) focused on the impact of ions during BDD-EO of RO concentrates. They suggested that the scavenging effect of carbonate system ions may not be as deleterious to electrochemical AOPs as they are to conventional AOPs (e.g., UV/H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>, O<sub>3</sub>, and UV/TiO<sub>2</sub>) because HCO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> did not inhibit removal until concentrations exceeded 5 mM HCO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> (Chaplin et al., 2010). A primary difference between conventional AOPs and electrochemical AOPs is the impact of anode surface oxidation occurring during EO. Chaplin et al. (2010) speculated that the acidic character of the diffuse layer on the anode surface will protonate carbonate ions near the surface into carbonic acid (H<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub>). The HO• rate constant with H<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub> (<1•10<sup>6</sup>

L/mol-s) is lower than the rate constants for  $HCO_3^-$  (8.5•10<sup>6</sup> L/mol-s) and  $CO_3^{2-}$  (3.9•10<sup>8</sup> L/mol-s) (Buxton et al., 1988; Chaplin, 2014; Crittenden et al., 2012). Accordingly, protonation of carbonate ions near the anode surface will decrease reactivity of carbonate species with the surface-sorbed HO• that may be present during EO.



Figure 2: The impact of alkalinity on electrooxidation of ACY, TMP, and BAC-C10 using boron-doped diamond electrodes operated at 14.8 mA/cm<sup>2</sup> for 5 minutes. Tests were conducted in 0.375 mM chloride electrolyte solution. The symbols represent mean values of triplicate experiments. Error bars show  $\pm 1$  standard error.

Alkalinity had a mixed impact on electrical energy demand. The electrical energy demand required for TMP treatment increased with increasing alkalinity (p = 0.0055) (Table A1), possibly due to homogeneous oxidant quenching via carbonate species. On the other hand, the ACY electrical energy demand had a negative correlation with alkalinity addition (p=0.0026), and the electrical energy demand associated with BAC-C10 treatment was not significantly impacted by varying alkalinity (p=0.847) (Table A1).

#### 4.1.2.3. Dissolved Organic Carbon

The impact of DOC on TOrC removal during EO was investigated by analyzing the overall removal of TOrCs in model surface water matrices containing 0 - 8 mg-C/L. These values are expected to be in the moderate to high ranges quantified in surface waters (Thurman, 1985a). Pearson correlations indicated a negative correlation with DOC for removal of ACY, TMP, and BAC-C10, but the strengths of correlation were only statistically significant for ACY and TMP (p= 0.0273 and 0.01, respectively) (Table A1). DOC concentrations as low as 2 mg-C/L DOC significantly inhibited removal of TMP and ACY relative to source waters containing no DOC (Figure 3, p =0.015, 0.0002, respectively). These data align with previous studies that suggest that DOC can greatly inhibit oxidative water treatment processes (von Gunten, 2018). DOC had a negative impact on the electrical energy demand of ACY and TMP, which resulted in the highest electrical energy demands for TMP and ACY relative to each water constituent assessed here (Table A1; Table A3). TMP required a significantly higher electrical energy demand (p=0.0050), but ACY's electrical energy demand was not statistically significant.



Figure 3: The impact of dissolved organic carbon on electrooxidation of ACY, TMP, and BAC-C10 by boron-doped diamond electrodes at 14.8 mA/cm<sup>2</sup> for 5 minutes. The symbols represent mean values of triplicate experiments. Error bars show  $\pm 1$  standard error.

The presence of DOC did not statistically impact removal of BAC-C10 after 5 minutes of EO (p = 0.368) (Figure 3). As such, the electrical energy demand for BAC-C10 treatment was not significantly impacted (Table A1; Table A3). The negligible impact of DOC contrasts with other AOP-based work as increased concentrations of a notorious oxidant scavenger had no impact on the oxidative removal of BAC-C10 during EO. This phenomenon is discussed in greater detail in *Section 4.1.4*.

# 4.1.3. The Efficacy of Boron-Doped Diamond Electrooxidation in Varying Water Quality Surface Waters and Groundwaters

Following the experiments to assess the impact of individual water constituents, EO experiments were conducted in model source water matrices by varying water constituents simultaneously (Figure 4). For all of the different source water matrices, water quality parameters significantly impacted removal of all TOrCs (p<0.05, ANOVA). In the model surface waters, approximately 20 - 75% removal was observed for all TOrCs. TMP and BAC had the greatest removal following 20 minutes of EO in model surface waters. ACY and TMP generally had the least removal in *model river water* while BAC-C10 had a contrasting trend with the greatest removal in *model river water*.



Figure 4: Electrooxidation of trace organics using boron-doped diamond electrodes at 14.8 mA/cm<sup>2</sup> for 20 min in varying water matrices. MLW = model lake water, MRW = model river water, MDA = model deep aquifer, MSA = model shallow aquifer, and HCO<sub>3</sub>-B = 3.5 mM bicarbonate buffer. Striped bars indicate removal beyond the quantifiable limit of the LC-MS method (~4 µg/L for each compound), in which case the quantifiable limit was used for statistical analyses. The bars show mean values of triplicate experiments and error bars show ± 1 standard deviation.

For model groundwater matrices, ACY and TMP were removed to a greater extent in the *model deep aquifer* (approximately 70 and 95%, respectively) compared to the *model shallow aquifer* (84 and 95%, respectively) (Figure 4). Of the TOrCs, BAC-C10 was removed to the least extent with less than 20% removal in both model groundwaters. This level of removal was similar to removal in the no electricity controls described in *Section 3.2.1.4*, indicating that EO treatment of groundwaters did not remove BAC-C10.

There was a stark difference in removal between model groundwater matrices containing chloride ions (*model shallow aquifer* and *model deep aquifer*) and the matrix without chloride (HCO<sub>3</sub>-B). Amongst the matrices tested, HCO<sub>3</sub>-B offered the lowest removal for all TOrCs with the exception of ACY's low removal in the *model river water*.

Relative rate reduction is a quantitative parameter used to assess the impact of water quality on the HO• rate constant of different TOrCs (Chaplin, 2018; Crittenden et al., 2012). Although HO• were not verified as the primary oxidant in this work, relative rate reduction calculations were used to aid in analyzing trends associated with homogeneous oxidants in solution. The estimated scavenging trend based on relative rate reduction was: model river water, model shallow aquifer, model lake water, model deep aquifer, and bicarbonate buffer; where model river water has the most scavengers and *bicarbonate buffer* has the least. A more detailed description of relative rate reduction calculations is provided in Appendix 6.6. The results in Figure 4 do not align with the expected trends based on relative rate reduction values for the TOrCs in each water matrix (Table A4). For example, TMP had the greatest removal in the *model shallow aquifer* water matrix and the least removal in the HCO<sub>3</sub>-B (Figure 4). However, the model shallow aquifer matrix theoretically had more scavengers and the HCO<sub>3</sub>-B was expected to have the least scavenging. These data suggest that oxidation in EO systems may proceed via different mechanisms than conventional AOPs, such as surface oxidation or the generation of conventional oxidants. For example, Barazesh et al. (2016) observed that the presence of 100 mM chloride in electrochemical systems enhanced the rate of removal for ACY and TMP by a factor of 2 relative to a 10 mM chloride solution. These differences in removal between chloride-containing waters and chloride-free waters may stem from the production of homogeneous and heterogeneous chloridederived oxidants.

As shown in Figure 4, the removal behavior of BAC-C10 was quite different relative to TMP and ACY. In water matrices with DOC, ACY and TMP had the lowest removal, whereas BAC-C10 had the greatest removal by EO. The ionic character of each compound likely influenced removal by EO processes. ACY and TMP are neutral compounds in the pH conditions tested. Alternately, BAC-C10 is a permanent cation at all pH conditions. In an electrolytic cell, the anode bears a positive charge due to the production of protons in the diffuse layer, and the cathode is negatively charged. Thus, it is possible that the positively charged BDD surface repels BAC-C10 due to electrostatic repulsion, thereby preventing BAC-C10 from being removed by surface oxidation on the anode surface. Electrostatic repulsion between anode materials and the cationic TOrCs atenolol and metroprolol was also shown by Barazesh et al. (2016).

Although electrostatic repulsion may hinder BAC-C10 treatment, DOC may serve as a transport mechanism to make BAC-C10 more susceptible to surface oxidation by mitigating electrostatic repulsion between BAC-C10 and the anode, as illustrated in Figure 5. The DOC compound in this study was humic acid sodium salt, which is characterized by high aromaticity ( $UV_{254} = 0.65 \pm 0.036$  cm<sup>-1</sup> when DOC = 8.5 mg-C/L), resulting in a strong net negative surface charge due to high electron density in aromatic ring systems. The higher BAC-C10 removal in model surface water relative to model groundwater may indicate that the net negative charge of DOC may neutralize BAC-C10 and cause BAC-C10 to co-dissolve or sorb in the electronegative portions of DOC. Once BAC-C10 is sorbed/dissolved in DOC, it may be more vulnerable to anodic surface oxidation.



Figure 5: The speculated mechanism of BAC-C10 removal via surface oxidation. A) Electrostatic repulsion between the positively charged anode surface and the cationic BAC-C10. B) Charge neutralization of BAC-C10 via co-dissolution in DOC. Following co-dissolution, BAC-C10 is susceptible to oxidation at the anode surface and inhibitory effects due to electrostatic repulsion are mitigated.

# 4.1.4. The Impact of Source Water Quality on Electrical Energy Demand

Water quality had a major impact on the electrical energy demand for each TOrC (p<0.05 for all). Model groundwaters generally had a lower electrical energy demand for ACY and TMP, potentially due to the higher matrix conductivity and absence of oxidant scavengers (Figure 6). The *model shallow aquifer* required the lowest electrical energy demand for mitigation of ACY and TMP ( $6.2 \pm 0.43$  and  $3.5 \pm 0.06$  kWh/m<sup>3</sup>, respectively).



Figure 6: Electrical energy demand after 20 minutes of electrooxidation at 14.8 mA/cm<sup>2</sup> for each model source water. The bars show mean values of triplicate experiments and error bars show  $\pm 1$  standard deviation. MRW = model river water, MLW = model lake water, MSA = model shallow aquifer, MDA = model deep aquifer, and HCO<sub>3</sub>-B = 3.5 mM bicarbonate buffer. A) acyclovir, B) trimethoprim, and C) BAC-C10.

The model surface water matrices generally had higher electrical energy demands for ACY and TMP treatment due to lower TOrC removal, higher amount of oxidant scavengers, and lower solution conductivity. A contrasting trend was observed for electrical energy demand for BAC-C10 treatment, primarily due to higher removal of BAC-C10 in surface water matrices relative to groundwater matrices.

# 4.2 The Impact of Electrocoagulation Pretreatment on Boron-Doped Diamond Electrooxidation

EO may be an effective oxidative treatment process for mitigation of TOrCs in groundwater matrices based on the high removal of ACY and TMP. However, EO may not serve as an effective process for surface water treatment due to the strong inhibitory impact of DOC. Therefore, pretreatments to remove DOC, such as EC, may improve subsequent removal of TOrCs by EO. The model source water experiments showed that DOC may be a large impediment to EO because DOC was negatively correlated to ACY and TMP removal (p=0.02 and 0.01, respectively). Thus, EC was investigated as a pretreatment to EO to determine the efficacy in sequential electrochemical processes in removing DOC from water to improve downstream TOrC removal.

Sequential EC-EO tests were performed in *model river water* due to the high DOC content in the matrix. The model groundwater matrices generally had similar removal due to EO treatment, whereas removal in the *model deep aquifer* was slightly lower for ACY and BAC-C10 (TMP was approximately 95% removed in both water matrices). Therefore, the *model deep aquifer* was selected as the model groundwater for EC-EO studies. Although the groundwater matrices generally had high removal of ACY and TMP, removal of BAC-C10 was generally poor, so the role of EC in removing BAC-C10 was also studied.

#### 4.2.1. Impact of Electrocoagulation on Dissolved Organic Carbon

Before conducting EC-EO experiments, EC conditions were tested with respect to DOC removal to gain an understanding of iron doses and water quality parameters for pretreatment of DOC in order to minimize potential oxidation scavengers that can inhibit EO.

## 4.2.1.1 The Impact of pH on Dissolved Organic Carbon Removal

The first parameter examined for EC pretreatment for DOC removal was the initial solution pH. Tests were performed at pH = 8.1 (the initial pH of *model river water*) and pH = 6. Prior studies showed that enhanced coagulation for DOC mitigation is generally effective in an acidic pH range (5.5 - 6.0) (Mayer et al., 2008; Volk et al., 2000). In these experiments, a mid-range EC generated iron dose of approximately 35 mg-Fe/L was selected.

As pH decreased, DOC removal significantly improved using EC (p < 0.05) (Figure 7). NOM is generally composed of acidic functional groups, the most common of which is carboxylic acid, which generally has a pKa of 4 -5 (Thurman, 1985b). At pH = 8, the NOM functional groups are in their anionic state and are highly soluble in water; accordingly, NOM is less likely to sorb to flocs during coagulation and flocculation. Decreased pH ostensibly led to protonation of NOM's functional groups, thus decreasing its solubility in water, and making NOM more prone to removal via EC.



Figure 7: Electrocoagulation (EC) of dissolved organic carbon (DOC) in the model river water matrix at pH 8.1 (as defined for the matrix) versus pH 6 (reflecting enhanced coagulation conditions). Tests were performed using a current density of 5.5 mA/cm<sup>2</sup> for 5 min to dose approximately 35 mg/L Fe. EC was followed by a 10-min flocculation period at 60 rpm (no electricity) and 15 min of settling. The bars show mean values of triplicate experiments and error bars show  $\pm$  1 standard deviation.

Due to significantly improved DOC removal at pH = 6 (p < 0.0001), pH = 6

served as the initial pH for EC-EO tests focused on improving treatability of model source waters. This result aligns with studies using EC as a pretreatment for membrane processes, where EC at pH = 6 optimized process operation (Ben-Sasson et al., 2013). Other studies have also shown that EC is more effective for NOM and DOC mitigation at

pH = 6 compared to neutral pH conditions (Dubrawski and Mohseni, 2013).

# 4.2.1.2 Point of Diminishing Return Analysis of System Parameters: DOC removal, Iron Dose, UV<sub>254</sub> Reduction, and Residual Iron

After establishing an operating pH, additional parameters were evaluated to select the operating conditions for electrochemical experiments, including DOC removal, iron dose,  $UV_{254}$  absorbance, and residual iron. DOC was used as the primary parameter to assess the smallest iron dose that removed the largest amount of DOC.  $UV_{254}$  reduction was used to assess the smallest iron dose that decreased the aromaticity and therefore the potential for disinfection byproduct formation. Iron dose was considered to assess the amount of coagulant required for DOC removal, while residual iron was used to assess the amount of iron remaining in solution following the EC-EO sequence. When the EC generated iron dose was approximately 35 mg-Fe/L, the slope of DOC removal vs. iron dose began to decrease, and the corresponding residual iron and  $UV_{254}$  also decreased relative to other iron doses (Figure 8).



Figure 8: A) Dissolved organic carbon (DOC) removal using electrocoagulation (EC). Iron was dosed via electrolysis at varying current densities  $(1.85 - 11.1 \text{ mA/cm}^2)$  to provide 10 - 55 mg-Fe/L after 5 minutes of electrolysis. Residual iron represents the iron passing through the Whatman filtration step following EC. B) Removal of UV absorbance at 254 nm using EC. The symbols show mean values of triplicate experiments and error bars show  $\pm 1$  standard deviation.

Flocs were not formed for EC generated doses of less than approximately 35 mg-Fe/L. The lack of floc formation corresponds to the point at which the residual iron dose was not statistically different than the applied iron dose (p > 0.05, t-test for EC iron dose = 10, and 20 mg-Fe/L). Although DOC was well removed in these scenarios, DOC was suspected to sorb to fine iron particles that were not able to agglomerate during the flocculation phase. Based on these data, an EC generated iron dose of approximately 35 mg-Fe/L was selected for EC-EO experiments as it was the lowest iron dose with high

DOC removal (74  $\pm$  7%), the greatest UV<sub>254</sub> reduction (95  $\pm$  1%), and the least residual iron (6  $\pm$  2 mg-Fe/L) following EC-EO (Figure 8).

Although the residual iron levels do not meet the secondary standards (0.3 mg-Fe/L) for iron in drinking water, the residuals resulting from a dose of approximately 35 mg-Fe/L were the lowest observed for the conditions tested in this project. The high residuals were primarily an artifact of the EC-EO lab-scale testing sequence because the transfer step between the EC and EO processes likely disrupted buoyant flocs in the floatation layer of the reactor. Iron generated during EC has different properties from conventional coagulants, which may affect the ease of flocculation and particle agglomeration. For example, EC-generated iron is dosed as Fe<sup>2+</sup>, which is more soluble than Fe<sup>3+</sup>, and requires additional hydrolysis to fully form insoluble complexes that will flocculate and precipitate (Lakshmanan et al., 2010). Ben-Sasson et al. (2013) overcame the residual iron problem using microfiltration; however, this optimized filtration step was not included here as this study primarily focused on the influence of EC pretreatment on EO for TOrC removal. Accordingly, future work should focus on EC process optimization, such as longer flocculation times, to improve particle separation.

#### 4.2.2 Electrocoagulation-Electrooxidation Removal of Trace Organic Compounds

Overall, EC pretreatment ahead of EO improved removal of all TOrCs in the *model river water*. Relative to removal by EO only, sequential EC-EO removal of ACY, TMP, and BAC-C10 increased mean removal by a factor of approximately 3.4, 1.7, and 1.4 respectively (Figure 9). The improved removal may be due to enhanced DOC removal in the preliminary EC step. Less DOC entering EO may cause the target TOrCs to be more readily oxidized as there are less oxidant scavengers in the matrix.



Figure 9: Effect of electrocoagulation (EC) pretreatment ahead of electrooxidation (EO) in variable water matrices. EC was run at a current density of 11.1 mA/cm<sup>2</sup> for 5 min to dose approximately 60 mg/L Fe (based on DOC tests). EO was performed at a current density of 14.8 mA/cm<sup>2</sup> for 20 min. Striped bars indicate removal beyond the quantifiable limit of the LC-MS method (~4 µg/L for each compound), and are shown at the quantifiable limit. The bars show mean values of triplicate experiments and error bars show ± 1 standard deviation.

In the *model deep aquifer* matrix, however, EC pretreatment hindered the mean removal of ACY and TMP, although not significantly. Alternately, EC pretreatment significantly improved removal of BAC-C10 in the *model deep aquifer* by a factor of 5.2 (p = 0.0036, t-test). The BAC-C10 removal in *model deep aquifer* was greater than the no electricity EC-EO controls in Table 6.

# 4.2.2.1. Relative Contribution of Electrocoagulation and Electrooxidation Processes

To provide a measure of the impact of each individual process during the EC-EO sequence, samples were collected at the following points: initial sample, post-EC, post filtration, and post-EO. EO was the predominant contributor to removal of ACY and TMP (Figure 10). However, EC provided the largest contribution to BAC-C10 removal in the *model river water*, and particle separation (rather than EC or EO) was a large contributor to BAC-C10 removal in the *model deep aquifer*.



Figure 10: Process contribution of TOrC mitigation using sequential electrocoagulation (EC)electrooxidation (EO) in *model river water* and *model deep aquifer*. EC was run at a current density of 5.5 mA/cm<sup>2</sup> for 5 min to dose approximately 35 mg/L Fe (based on DOC tests). EO was performed at a current density of 14.8 mA/cm<sup>2</sup> for 20 min. Striped bars indicate removal beyond the quantifiable limit of the LC-MS method (~4 µg/L for each compound), and are shown at the quantifiable limit. The bars show mean values of triplicate experiments and error bars show  $\pm 1$  standard deviation.

As noted previously, BAC-C10 was removed to the greatest extent during EC treatment of the DOC-containing water matrices (Figure 10). However, low BAC-C10 removal was observed using EC to treat *model deep aquifer* (no DOC content). This data further supports speculations that BAC-C10 may adsorb to, or dissolve into, large aromatic organics and subsequently be oxidized with them during treatment.

The impact of each process on the solution pH was also determined by measuring pH initially, after EC, and after EO. For each experiment, EC increased the pH and EO decreased the pH (data shown in Appendix 6.7). EO may have decreased the pH due to the oxidation of organics present in NOM as the general scheme of oxidation of organics via AOPs is organic compound (NOM or TOrC)  $\rightarrow$  aldehyde $\rightarrow$  carboxylic acid  $\rightarrow$  carbon dioxide or mineral acid (Bolton and Carter, 1994; Crittenden et al., 2012; Mayer and Ryan, 2017).

# **4.2.2.2. Impact of Electrocoagulation Pretreatment on Electrical Energy Demands:** The Prospect of Electrochemical Process Synergy

Combined EC-EO improved the mean electrical energy demand in *model river water*, by a factor 4.2 for ACY and 4.4 for TMP relative to EO alone (Figure 11) (p = 0.017 and 0.001, respectively). Although mean electrical energy demand improved for BAC-C10 by 2.8, the difference was not significant (p=0.0692). These findings demonstrate combined process synergy in surface waters from an energy demand perspective.



Figure 11: Electrical energy demand of electrocoagulation-electrooxidation (EC-EO) treatment compared to EO-only treatment. The bars show mean values of triplicate experiments, with the exception of EO BAC-C10, which is the result of duplicate experiments. Error bars show  $\pm 1$  standard deviation.

The electrical energy demand of EC-EO of the *model deep aquifer* was not statistically different than EO-only treatment for TMP and ACY. The electrical energy demand for BAC-C10 statistically improved following EC-EO (p=0.0036). Accordingly, EC-EO decreased energy demands for all TOrCs in the *model river water*, but not in the *model deep aquifer*.

The electrical energy demands were generally higher than the maximum electrical energy input to conventional systems  $(3.5 - 7 \text{ kWh/m}^3 \text{ for RO treatment})$ , with the exception of TMP and BAC-C10 treatment following combined EC-EO treatment in *model river water*. It is important to note that these experiments were conducted at a labscale in reactors that were not optimized for energy demands.

#### **5. CONCLUSIONS**

### 5.1. Key Findings

The main objective of this work was to assess the efficacy of combined EC-EO water treatment in mitigating TOrCs in model source water matrices. This objective was investigated by conducting experiments to assess the performance of EO in different electrolyte solutions followed by experiments in model source water matrices to evaluate the efficacy of treatment in more authentic water matrices. After EO experiments, combined EC-EO treatment was investigated to understand a multi-barrier water treatment process in overall mitigation of each TOrC. The key findings were:

- EO was effective as a standalone treatment for ACY and TMP (greater than 70% removal), but not BAC-C10 in groundwater matrices (less than 30% removal).
  The effectiveness of EO treatment of ACY and TMP in model groundwater matrices was attributed to the absence of oxidant scavengers, which may have promoted oxidation.
- 2. EO was not effective in treating ACY and TMP in the model surface waters (less than 60% removal), but it was promising for treatment of BAC-C10 in the *model river water* (greater than 60% removal). Lower TOrC removal in the model surface waters was primarily due to the presence of oxidant scavengers. Additionally, lower matrix conductivity hindered the overall treatment effectiveness of ACY and TMP, and increased the energy demands for treatment.
- 3. Combined EC-EO was generally effective in mitigating challenges innate to the *model river water*. Improved treatment was demonstrated by greater removal of each TOrC (and associated decreases in electrical energy demand). Combined

59

EC-EO offered improved treatment of BAC-C10 mitigation in the *model deep aquifer*, primarily due to particle separation rather than electrochemical treatment, although EO-only treatment already yielded high removal of ACY and TMP.

- EC was an effective DOC mitigation technique at pH 6 and offered a high contribution to overall BAC-C10 removal in the *model river water*. EC improved treatment via downstream EO due to oxidant scavenger mitigation.
- 5. EO offers both homogeneous and heterogeneous oxidation pathways as plausible removal mechanisms. However, TOrC physicochemical properties (e.g., compound charge) may inhibit their removal efficacy in an electrochemical system. In this work, BAC-C10 was not well removed by EO in model waters without DOC. This hindered removal was attributed to electrostatic repulsion between BAC-C10 and the anode surface, where oxidation reactions may occur.
- 6. Electrical energy demand was evaluated for EO-only and combined EC-EO treatment. EO-only treatment was generally more energy efficient in model groundwaters, and EC-EO improved the energy demands associated with treatment of *model river water*.

The findings from this study demonstrate that combined EC-EO may serve as a promising advanced water treatment process for TOrC mitigation in different source waters.

#### 5.2. Future Work

Electrochemical water treatment processes may serve as a potential treatment approach for mitigating TOrCs in drinking water source matrices due to the high TOrC removal resulting from combined EC-EO. However, future work is needed to understand many process factors such as oxidation mechanisms, disinfection byproduct formation, electrical energy demand optimization, and reactor design.

As mentioned in Section 2.3.1.2, EO is a unique AOP capable of generating numerous oxidants depending on multiple factors that can either be manipulated by electrical energy or chemical inputs. For example, the presence of Cl<sup>-</sup> in solution may produce HOCl. However, EO simultaneously forms ephemeral ROS that are highly reactive such that they cannot be accurately measured with conventional methods like DPD or the indigo method. Although the oxidants may not be quantified, their activity cannot be fully ruled out if they are in solution long enough to react. In addition to these homogeneous reactions, the anode surface also plays a role in overall compound oxidation via direct electron transfer or surface-sorbed oxidants. Future work is needed to assess the impacts of different oxidants suspected to occur during electrochemical treatment. The use of molecular probes such as para-chlorobenzoic acid, or selective quenchers such as tert-butyl alcohol, methanol, and terephtalic acid, in tandem with cyclic voltammetry may be useful in understanding which oxidants are most active during different electrochemical treatment conditions (Jing and Chaplin, 2017; Pi et al., 2005; Tai et al., 2004).

A comprehensive study of disinfection byproducts (DBPs) resulting from EO of source waters is also needed to more fully vet electrochemical water treatment. The different reactivity associated with each oxidant may promote different routes of DBP formation. For instance, halogenated oxidants may promote formation of classical DBPs (e.g., trihalomethanes and haloacetic acids), whereas ROS may lead to the production of low molecular weight organics (e.g., aldehydes and organic acids) as a result of incomplete oxidation, which may also complicate downstream processes (Mayer and Ryan, 2017). In addition, electrochemical processes can result in a separate suite of inorganic chlorinated DBPs such as chlorate and perchlorate (Bergmann et al., 2009; Jasper et al., 2017; Radjenovic and Sedlak, 2015). While organic chlorinated byproducts are regulated, inorganic byproducts (e.g., chlorate and perchlorate) are only beginning to be regulated. The heightened formation of these inorganic byproducts may potentially serve as an additional barrier to the implementation of electrochemical processes as a drinking water treatment technology (Radjenovic and Sedlak, 2015).

Future work is also needed to optimize EO process design and operation. Differences between flow-through systems and batch-scale processes may have a major impact on removal mechanisms occurring in EO, such as surface oxidation. Results from this work and others suggest that the surfaces of BDD electrodes may have a major contribution to TOrC abatement (Barazesh et al., 2016; Radjenovic and Sedlak, 2015). A benefit of batch-scale processes may be the heightened opportunity for TOrC contact with the electrode surface for oxidation, where this contact time may not be as feasible in a flow-through system processing larger volumes of water. EO reactor characteristics to consider in future studies may focus on the impact of surface-to-volume ratio on EO- mediated removal to determine if increased surface area provides more surface oxidation and oxidant production. Work in reactor configuration will also inform design optimization to decrease the overall electrical energy demand of electrochemical systems. For example, electrode configuration parameters such as inter-electrode spacing, submerged electrode depth, connectivity (bipolar vs. monopolar), and number of electrodes can impact required voltage.

#### 7. BIBLIOGRAPHY

- Anjan, B., Prusty, K., Azeez, P.A., 2005. Humus: The Natural Organic Matter in the Soil System, J. Agril. Res. & Dev.
- Bader, H., Hoigne, J., 1982. Determination of ozone in water by the indigo method; a submitted standard method. Ozone Sci. Eng. doi:10.1080/01919518208550955
- Baek, K., Yang, J.-W., Yang, J.-S., Iqbal, J., Kim, H.-J., 2006. Removal of arsenic from groundwater by micellar-enhanced ultrafiltration (MEUF). Chemosphere 66, 970– 976. doi:10.1016/j.chemosphere.2006.06.005
- Bagotsky, V.S., 2005. Fundamentals of Electrochemistry: Second Ed., Fundamentals of Electrochemistry: Second Ed. doi:10.1002/047174199X
- Barazesh, J.M., Prasse, C., Sedlak, D.L., 2016. Electrochemical Transformation of Trace Organic Contaminants in the Presence of Halide and Carbonate Ions. Environ. Sci. Technol. 50, 10143–10152. doi:10.1021/acs.est.6b02232
- Bejan, D., Guinea, E., Bunce, N.J., 2012. On the nature of the hydroxyl radicals produced at boron-doped diamond and Ebonex® anodes. Electrochim. Acta 69, 275–281. doi:10.1016/j.electacta.2012.02.097
- Belaid, C., Kallel, M., Chakchouk, I., Chaari, L., Elloumi, N., Mseddi, S., 2017. A Combined Electrocoagulation-Electrooxidation Treatment for Dairy Wastewater.
   Brazilian J. Chem. Eng. 34, 109–117. doi:10.1590/0104-6632.20170341s20150040
- Ben-Sasson, M., Zidon, Y., Calvo, R., Adin, A., 2013. Enhanced removal of natural organic matter by hybrid process of electrocoagulation and dead-end microfiltration. Chem. Eng. J. 232, 338–345. doi:10.1016/j.cej.2013.07.101
- Bergmann, M.E.H., Rollin, J., Iourtchouk, T., 2009. The occurrence of perchlorate during drinking water electrolysis using BDD anodes. Electrochim. Acta 54, 2102–2107. doi:10.1016/j.electacta.2008.09.040
- Bieber, S., Snyder, S.A., Dagnino, S., Rauch-Williams, T., Drewes, J.E., 2018.
   Management strategies for trace organic chemicals in water A review of international approaches. Chemosphere. doi:10.1016/j.chemosphere.2017.12.100
- Boal, A.K., Patsalis, F.I., 2017. Use of Sodium Thiosulfate to Quench Hypochlorite Solutions Prior to Chlorate Analysis. J. Am. Water Works Assoc. doi:10.5942/jiwwa.2017.109.0097
- Bolton, J.R., Bircher, K.G., Tumas, W., Tolman, C.A., 2001. Figures-of-merit for the technical development and application of advanced oxidation technologies for both electric- and solar-driven systems (IUPAC Technical Report). Pure Appl. Chem. doi:10.1351/pac200173040627
- Bolton, J.R., Cater, S.R., 1994. Homogeneous photodegradation of pollutants in contaminated water: An introduction, in: Heiz, G.R., Zepp, R.G., Crosby, D.G. (Eds.), Aquatic and Surface Photochemistry. CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL. doi:10.1201/9781351069847
- Boudreau, J., Bejan, D., Li, S., Bunce, N.J., 2010. Competition between electrochemical advanced oxidation and electrochemical hypochlorination of sulfamethoxazole at a boron-doped diamond anode. Ind. Eng. Chem. Res. 49, 2537–2542. doi:10.1021/ie900614d
- Brocenschi, R.F., Rocha-Filho, R.C., Bocchi, N., Biaggio, S.R., 2016. Electrochemical degradation of estrone using a boron-doped diamond anode in a filter-press reactor. doi:10.1016/j.electacta.2015.09.170

Bushby, S.R.M., 1975. Synergy of trimethoprim sulfamethoxazole. Can. Med. Assoc. J.
Buxton, G. V, Greenstock, C.L., Phillips Helman, W., Ross, A.B., Helman, W.P., 1988.
Critical Review of Aqueous Solution Reaction Rate Constants for. Aqueous Solut. J.
Phys. Chem. Ref. Data 17, 23103. doi:10.1063/1.555805

Cañizares, P., Sáez, C., Sánchez-Carretero, A., Rodrigo, M.A., 2009. Synthesis of novel oxidants by electrochemical technology. J. Appl. Electrochem. 39, 2143–2149. doi:10.1007/s10800-009-9792-7

- Chaplin, B.P., 2018. Advantages, Disadvantages, and Future Challenges of the Use of Electrochemical Technologies for Water and Wastewater Treatment, in: Electrochemical Water and Wastewater Treatment. pp. 451–494. doi:10.1016/B978-0-12-813160-2.00017-1
- Chaplin, B.P., 2014. Critical review of electrochemical advanced oxidation processes for water treatment applications. Environmental Science: Processes & Impacts 16(6), 1182-1203.
- Chaplin, B.P., Schrader, G., Farrell, J., 2010. Electrochemical destruction of N -Nitrosodimethylamine in reverse osmosis concentrates using boron-doped diamond film electrodes. Environ. Sci. Technol. 44, 4264–4269. doi:10.1021/es903872p
- Chen, G., 2004. Electrochemical technologies in wastewater treatment. Sep. Purif. Technol. doi:10.1016/j.seppur.2003.10.006
- Copeland, A., Lytle, D.A., 2014. Measuring the oxidation-reduction potential of important oxidants in drinking water. J. Am. Water Works Assoc. doi:10.5942/jawwa.2014.106.0002
- Cotillas, S., Llanos, J., Cañ, P., Mateo, S., Rodrigo, M.A., 2013. Optimization of an integrated electrodisinfection/ electrocoagulation process with Al bipolar electrodes for urban wastewater reclamation. doi:10.1016/j.watres.2012.12.029
- Crittenden, J.C., Trussell, R.R., Hand, D.W., Howe, K.J., Tchobanoglous, G., 2012. MWH's Water Treatment: Principles and Design: Third Edition, MWH's Water Treatment: Principles and Design: Third Edition. doi:10.1002/9781118131473
- Daughton, C.G., Ternes, T.A., 1999. Pharmaceuticals and personal care products in the environment: Agents of subtle change? Environ. Health Perspect. doi:10.1289/ehp.99107s6907
- Dodd, M.C., Buffle, M.O., Von Gunten, U., 2006. Oxidation of antibacterial molecules by aqueous ozone: Moiety-specific reaction kinetics and application to ozone-based wastewater treatment. Environ. Sci. Technol. 40, 1969–1977. doi:10.1021/es051369x

- Dodd, M.C., Huang, C.H., 2007. Aqueous chlorination of the antibacterial agent trimethoprim: Reaction kinetics and pathways. Water Res. 41, 647–655. doi:10.1016/j.watres.2006.10.029
- Dubrawski, K.L., Fauvel, M., Mohseni, M., 2013. Metal type and natural organic matter source for direct filtration electrocoagulation of drinking water. J. Hazard. Mater. 244–245. doi:10.1016/j.jhazmat.2012.11.027
- Dubrawski, K.L., Mohseni, M., 2013. Standardizing electrocoagulation reactor design: Iron electrodes for NOM removal. doi:10.1016/j.chemosphere.2012.11.075
- Duman, O., Ayranci, E., 2010. Adsorptive removal of cationic surfactants from aqueous solutions onto high-area activated carbon cloth monitored by in situ UV spectroscopy. J. Hazard. Mater. 174, 359–367. doi:10.1016/j.jhazmat.2009.09.058
- Edzwald, J.K., Becker, W.C., Wattier, K.L., 1985. Surrogate Parameters for Monitoring Organic Matter and THM Precursors. Source J. (American Water Work. Assoc. Removing THMs 77, 122–132.
- Edzwald, J.K., Tobiason, J.E., 1999. Enhanced coagulation: US requirements and a broader view. Water Sci. Technol. 40, 63–70. doi:10.1016/S0273-1223(99)00641-1
- Emamjomeh, M.M., Sivakumar, M., 2009. Review of pollutants removed by electrocoagulation and electrocoagulation/flotation processes. J. Environ. Manage. doi:10.1016/j.jenvman.2008.12.011
- EPA, 2009. Method 334.0: Determination of Residual Chlorine in Drinking Water Using an on-Line Chlorine Analyzer, in: Method 334.0. pp. 0–23.
- Evki Yildiz, Y., Koparal, A.S., Irdemez, ', Keskinler, B., 2007. Electrocoagulation of synthetically prepared waters containing high concentration of NOM using iron cast electrodes. J. Hazard. Mater. 139, 373–380. doi:10.1016/j.jhazmat.2006.06.044
- Fan, Z., Kwon, Y.H., Yang, X., Xu, W., Wu, Z., 2017. In-situ Production of Hydrogen Peroxide as Oxidant for Direct Urea Fuel Cell. Energy Procedia 105, 1858–1863. doi:10.1016/j.egypro.2017.03.544

- Food and Drug Administration, 2017. Safety and Effectiveness of Health Care Antiseptics; Topical Antimicrobial Drug Products for Over-the-Counter Human Use. Final rule. Fed. Regist.
- Furlong, E.T., Batt, A.L., Glassmeyer, S.T., Noriega, M.C., Kolpin, D.W., Mash, H., Schenck, K.M., 2017. Nationwide reconnaissance of contaminants of emerging concern in source and treated drinking waters of the United States: Pharmaceuticals. Sci. Total Environ. doi:10.1016/j.scitotenv.2016.03.128
- Garcia-Segura, S., Keller, J., Brillas, E., Radjenovic, J., 2015. Removal of organic contaminants from secondary effluent by anodic oxidation with a boron-doped diamond anode as tertiary treatment. J. Hazard. Mater. 283, 551–557. doi:10.1016/j.jhazmat.2014.10.003
- Ghernaout, D., Irki, S., Boucherit, A., 2014. Removal of Cu2+ and Cd2+, and humic acid and phenol by electrocoagulation using iron electrodes. Desalin. Water Treat. 52, 3256–3270. doi:10.1080/19443994.2013.852484
- González, T., Domínguez, J.R., Palo, P., Sánchez-Martín, J., Cuerda-Correa, E.M., 2011. Development and optimization of the BDD-electrochemical oxidation of the antibiotic trimethoprim in aqueous solution. doi:10.1016/j.desal.2011.07.012
- Gu, Z., Liao, Z., Schulz, M., Davis, J.R., Baygents, J.C., Farrell, J., 2009. Estimating dosing rates and energy consumption for electrocoagulation using Iron and aluminum electrodes. Ind. Eng. Chem. Res. 48, 3112–3117. doi:10.1021/ie801086c
- Heffron, J., 2019. Iron-enhanced mitigation of viruses in drinking water. Marquette University, Milwaukee WI.
- Heffron, J., Marhefke, M., Mayer, B.K., 2016. Removal of trace metal contaminants from potable water by electrocoagulation. Sci. Rep. 1–9. doi:10.1038/srep28478
- Hernández-Leal, L., Temmink, H., Zeeman, G., Buisman, C.J.N., 2011. Removal of micropollutants from aerobically treated grey water via ozone and activated carbon. Water Res. 45, 2887–2896. doi:10.1016/j.watres.2011.03.009

- Herron, J., Reese, R.C., Tallman, K.A., Narayanaswamy, R., Porter, N.A., Xu, L., 2016. Identification of environmental quaternary ammonium compounds as direct inhibitors of cholesterol biosynthesis. Toxicol. Sci. doi:10.1093/toxsci/kfw041
- Hignite, C., Azarnoff, D.L., 1977. Drugs and drug metabolites as environmental contaminants: Chlorophenoxyisobutyrate and salicylic acid in sewage water effluent. Life Sci. doi:10.1016/0024-3205(77)90329-0
- Howe, K.J., Hand, D.W., Crittenden, J.C., Trussell, R. Rhodes, Tchobanoglous, G., 2012. Principles of Water Treatment [WWW Document]. John Wiley Sons. URL https://app.knovel.com/web/toc.v/cid:kpPWT00004/principles-ofwater?\_ga=2.11339764.1920316558.1550169603-1208604398.1548273099 (accessed 2.14.19).
- Hu, L., Martin, H.M., Arce-Bulted, O., Sugihara, M.N., Keating, K.A., Strathmann, T.J., 2009. Oxidation of carbamazepine by Mn(VII) and Fe(VI): Reaction kinetics and mechanism. Environ. Sci. Technol. doi:10.1021/es8023513
- Ibarra-Taquez, H.N., GilPavas, E., Blatchley, E.R., Gómez-García, M.-Á., Dobrosz-Gómez, I., 2017. Integrated electrocoagulation-electrooxidation process for the treatment of soluble coffee effluent: Optimization of COD degradation and operation time analysis. J. Environ. Manage. 200, 530–538. doi:10.1016/j.jenvman.2017.05.095
- Jain, S., Kumar, P., Vyas, R.K., Pandit, P., Dalai, A.K., 2013. Occurrence and removal of antiviral drugs in environment: A review. Water. Air. Soil Pollut. 224. doi:10.1007/s11270-012-1410-3
- Järhult, J.D., Muradrasoli, S., Wahlgren, J., Sö Derströ M, H., Orozovic, G., 2011. Environmental Levels of the Antiviral Oseltamivir Induce Development of Resistance Mutation H274Y in Influenza A/H1N1 Virus in Mallards. PLoS One 6, 24742. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0024742
- Jasper, J.T., Yang, Y., Hoffmann, M.R., 2017. Toxic Byproduct Formation during Electrochemical Treatment of Latrine Wastewater. Environ. Sci. Technol. 51, 7111– 7119. doi:10.1021/acs.est.7b01002

- Jeong, J., Kim, J.Y., Yoon, J., 2006. The role of reactive oxygen species in the electrochemical inactivation of microorganisms. Environ. Sci. Technol. 40, 6117–6122. doi:10.1021/es0604313
- Jing, Y., Chaplin, B.P., 2017. Mechanistic Study of the Validity of Using Hydroxyl Radical Probes to Characterize Electrochemical Advanced Oxidation Processes. Environ. Sci. Technol. 51, 2355–2365. doi:10.1021/acs.est.6b05513
- Jones, O.A.H., Voulvoulis, N., Lester, J.N., 2003. Potential impact of pharmaceuticals on environmental health. Bull. World Health Organ.
- Kastl, G., Sathasivan, A., Fisher, I., Van Leeuwen, J., 2004. Modeling DOC Removal by Enhanced Coagulation. J. / Am. Water Work. Assoc.
- Khandegar, V., Saroha, A.K., 2013. Electrocoagulation for the treatment of textile industry effluent - A review. J. Environ. Manage. doi:10.1016/j.jenvman.2013.06.043
- Kolpin, D.W., Furlong, E.T., Meyer, M.T., Thurman, E.M., Zaugg, S.D., Barber, L.B., Buxton, H.T., 2002. Pharmaceuticals, hormones, and other organic wastewater contaminants in U.S. streams, 1999-2000: A national reconnaissance. Environ. Sci. Technol. 36, 1202–1211. doi:10.1021/es011055j
- Kraft, A., Stadelmann, M., Blaschke, M., Kreysig, D., Sandt, B., Schröder, F., Rennau, J., 1999. Electrochemical water disinfection Part I: Hypochlorite production from very dilute chloride solutions. J. Appl. Electrochem. 29, 859–866. doi:10.1023/A:1003650220511
- Kruthika, N.L., Karthika, S., Bhaskar Raju, G., Prabhakar, S., 2013. Efficacy of electrocoagulation and electrooxidation for the purification of wastewater generated from gelatin production plant. doi:10.1016/j.jece.2013.04.017
- Kümmerer, K., 2009. Antibiotics in the aquatic environment A review Part II. Chemosphere 75, 435–441. doi:10.1016/j.chemosphere.2008.12.006

- Lakshmanan, D., Clifford, D.A., Samanta, G., 2010. Comparative study of arsenic removal by iron using electrocoagulation and chemical coagulation. Water Res. doi:10.1016/j.watres.2010.06.018
- Lakshmanan, D., Clifford, D.A., Samanta, G., 2009. Ferrous and ferric ion generation during iron electrocoagulation. Environ. Sci. Technol. 43, 3853–3859. doi:10.1021/es8036669
- Langsrud, S., Sundheim, G., Holck, A.L., 2004. Cross-resistance to antibiotics of Escherichia coli adapted to benzalkonium chloride or exposed to stress-inducers, in: Journal of Applied Microbiology. doi:10.1046/j.1365-2672.2003.02140.x
- Lanzarini-Lopes, M., Garcia-Segura, S., Hristovski, K., Westerhoff, P., 2017. Electrical energy per order and current efficiency for electrochemical oxidation of pchlorobenzoic acid with boron-doped diamond anode. Chemosphere 188, 304–311. doi:10.1016/j.chemosphere.2017.08.145
- Leenheer, J.A., 1981. Comprehensive approach to preparative isolation and fractionation of dissolved organic carbon from natural waters and wastewaters. Environ. Sci. Technol. doi:10.1021/es00087a010
- Li, L., Van Genuchten, C.M., Addy, S.E.A., Yao, J., Gao, N., Gadgil, A.J., 2012. Modeling As(III) Oxidation and Removal with Iron Electrocoagulation in Groundwater. doi:10.1021/es302456b
- Linares-Hernández, I., Barrera-Díaz, C., Bilyeu, B., Juárez-Garcíarojas, P., Campos-Medina, E., 2010. A combined electrocoagulation-electrooxidation treatment for industrial wastewater. J. Hazard. Mater. 175, 688–694. doi:10.1016/j.jhazmat.2009.10.064
- Maher, E.K., O'Malley, K.N., Heffron, J., Huo, J., Mayer, B.K., Wang, Y., McNamara, P.J., 2018. Analysis of Operational Parameters, Reactor Kinetics, and Floc Characterization for the Removal of Estrogens via Electrocoagulation. Chemosphere 220, 1141–1149. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2018.12.161
- Marselli, B., Garcia-Gomez, J., Michaud, P.-A., Rodrigo, M.A., Comninellis, C., 2003. Electrogeneration of Hydroxyl Radicals on Boron-Doped Diamond Electrodes. doi:10.1149/1.1553790.

- Mayer, B.K., Ryan, D.R., 2017. Impact on Disinfection Byproducts Using Advanced Oxidation Processes for Drinking Water Treatment, in: The Handbook of Environmental Chemistry. Springer, pp. 1007–698. doi:10.1007/698\_2017\_82
- Mayer, B.K., Ryu, H., Abbaszadegan, M., 2008. Treatability of U.S. Environmental Protection Agency contaminant candidate list viruses: Removal of coxsackievirus and echovirus using enhanced coagulation. Environ. Sci. Technol. 42, 6890–6896. doi:10.1021/es801481s
- Michaud, P.A., Panizza, M., Ouattara, L., Diaco, T., Foti, G., Comninellis, C., 2003. Electrochemical oxidation of water on synthetic boron-doped diamond thin film anodes. J. Appl. Electrochem. 33, 151–154. doi:10.1023/A:1024084924058
- Mohora, E., Rončeví, S., Dalmacija, B., Agbaba, J., Watson, M., Karloví, E., Dalmacija, M., 2012. Removal of natural organic matter and arsenic from water by electrocoagulation/flotation continuous flow reactor. J. Hazard. Mater. 235–236, 257–264. doi:10.1016/j.jhazmat.2012.07.056
- Murillo-Sierra, J.C., Sir Es, I., Brillas, E., Ruiz-Ruiz, E.J., Hern Andez-Ramírez, A., 2018. Advanced oxidation of real sulfamethoxazole + trimethoprim formulations using different anodes and electrolytes. Chemosphere 192, 225–233. doi:10.1016/j.chemosphere.2017.10.136
- Murugananthan, M., Yoshihara, S., Rakuma, T., Uehara, N., Shirakashi, T., 2007. Electrochemical degradation of 17-estradiol (E2) at boron-doped diamond (Si/BDD) thin film electrode. Electrochim. Acta 52, 3242–3249. doi:10.1016/j.electacta.2006.09.073
- Nikolaev, N.V., Kozlovskii, A.S., Utkin, I.I., 1982. Treating natural waters in small water systems by filtration with electrocoagulation. Sov. J. Water Chem. Technol. 4, 244–247.
- Pérez, G., Gómez, P., Ibañez, R., Ortiz, I., Urtiaga, A.M., 2010. Electrochemical disinfection of secondary wastewater treatment plant (WWTP) effluent. Water Sci. Technol. 62, 892–897. doi:10.2166/wst.2010.328

- Pi, Y., Schumacher, J., Jekel, M., 2005. The use of para-chlorobenzoic acid (pCBA) as an ozone/hydroxyl radical probe compound. Ozone Sci. Eng. doi:10.1080/01919510500349309
- Pignatello, J.J., Oliveros, E.;, Mackay, A., 2006. Advanced Oxidation Processes for Organic Contaminant Destruction Based on the Fenton Reaction and Related Chemistry. Crit. Rev. Environ. Sci. Technol. 36.
- Polcaro, A.M., Vacca, A., Mascia, M., Palmas, S., Rodiguez Ruiz, J., 2009. Electrochemical treatment of waters with BDD anodes: Kinetics of the reactions involving chlorides. J. Appl. Electrochem. 39, 2083–2092. doi:10.1007/s10800-009-9870-x
- Prasse, C., Wagner, M., Schulz, R., Ternes, T.A., 2012. Oxidation of the antiviral drug acyclovir and its biodegradation product carboxy-acyclovir with ozone: Kinetics and identification of oxidation products. Environ. Sci. Technol. 46, 2169–2178. doi:10.1021/es203712z
- Radjenovic, J., Sedlak, D.L., 2015. Challenges and Opportunities for Electrochemical Processes as Next-Generation Technologies for the Treatment of Contaminated Water. Environ. Sci. Technol. doi:10.1021/acs.est.5b02414
- Rajab, M., Heim, C., Letzel, T., Drewes, J.E., Helmreich, B., 2015. Electrochemical disinfection using boron-doped diamond electrode - The synergetic effects of in situ ozone and free chlorine generation. Chemosphere 121, 47–53. doi:10.1016/j.chemosphere.2014.10.075
- Rush, J.D., Maskos, Z., Koppenol, W.H., 1990. Distinction between hydroxyl radical and ferryl species. Methods Enzymol. 186, 148–156. doi:10.1016/0076-6879(90)86104-4
- Sáez, C., Rodrigo, M.A., Cañ izares, P., 2008. Rapid #: -12486318 Electrosynthesis of Ferrates with Diamond Anodes. AIChE J 54, 1600–1607. doi:10.1002/aic.11492
- Saha, M.S., Furuta, T., Nishiki, Y., 2003. Electrochemical Synthesis of Sodium Peroxycarbonate at Boron-Doped Diamond Electrodes. Electrochem. Solid-State Lett. doi:10.1149/1.1576050

- Särkkä, H., Bhatnagar, A., Sillanpää, M., 2015a. Recent developments of electrooxidation in water treatment — A review. doi:10.1016/j.jelechem.2015.06.016
- Särkkä, H., Vepsäläinen, M., Sillanpää, M., 2015b. Natural organic matter (NOM) removal by electrochemical methods — A review. JEAC 755, 100–108. doi:10.1016/j.jelechem.2015.07.029
- Schmalz, V., Dittmar, T., Haaken, D., Worch, E., 2009. Electrochemical disinfection of biologically treated wastewater from small treatment systems by using boron-doped diamond (BDD) electrodes – Contribution for direct reuse of domestic wastewater. Water Res. 43, 5260–5266. doi:10.1016/j.watres.2009.08.036
- Schwarzenbach, R.P., Escher, B.I., Fenner, K., Hofstetter, T.B., Johnson, C.A., Von Gunten, U., Wehrli, B., 2006. The challenge of micropollutants in aquatic systems. Science (80-.). doi:10.1126/science.1127291
- Smith, M.J., Flowers, T.H., Cowling, M.J., Duncan, H.J., 2002. Method for the measurement of the diffusion coefficient of benzalkonium chloride, Water Research.
- Tai, C., Peng, J.F., Liu, J.F., Jiang, G. Bin, Zou, H., 2004. Determination of hydroxyl radicals in advanced oxidation processes with dimethyl sulfoxide trapping and liquid chromatography. Anal. Chim. Acta. doi:10.1016/j.aca.2004.08.019
- Ternes, T.A., Meisenheimer, M., McDowell, D., Sacher, F., Brauch, H.J., Haist-Gulde, B., Preuss, G., Wilme, U., Zulei-Seibert, N., 2002. Removal of pharmaceuticals during drinking water treatment. Environ. Sci. Technol. 36, 3855–3863. doi:10.1021/es015757k
- Thurman, E.M., 1985a. Amount of Organic Carbon in Natural Waters, in: Organic Geochemistry of Natural Waters. pp. 7–65. doi:10.1007/978-94-009-5095-5\_2
- Thurman, E.M., 1985b. Organic geochemistry of natural waters, 1st ed. Nijhoff/Junk Publishers, Durdrecht, The Nederlands.

- Tong, Y., Mayer, B.K., McNamara, P.J., 2016. Triclosan adsorption using wastewater biosolids-derived biochar. Environ. Sci. Water Res. Technol. doi:10.1039/c6ew00127k
- Ulu, F., Barişçi, S., Kobya, M., Särkkä, H., Sillanpää, M., 2014. Removal of humic substances by electrocoagulation (EC) process and characterization of floc size growth mechanism under optimum conditions. Sep. Purif. Technol. 133, 246–253. doi:10.1016/j.seppur.2014.07.003
- Ureña de Vivanco, M., Rajab, M., Heim, C., Letzel, T., Helmreich, B., 2013. Setup and Energetic Considerations for Three Advanced Oxidation Reactors Treating Organic Compounds. Chem. Eng. Technol. 36, 355–361. doi:10.1002/ceat.201200478
- USEPA, 2012a. Guidelines for Water Reuse, U.S. Agency for International Development. doi:EPA16251R-921004
- USEPA, 2012b. Estimation Programs Interface Suite<sup>TM</sup> for Microsoft® Windows, v 4.11 [WWW Document]. EPI Suite.
- Vik, E.A., Carlson, D.A., Eikum, A.S., Gjessing, E.T., 1984. Electrocoagulation of potable water. Water Res. doi:10.1016/0043-1354(84)90003-4
- Vince, F., Aoustin, E., Bréant, P., Marechal, F., 2008. LCA tool for the environmental evaluation of potable water production. Desalination 220, 37–56. doi:10.1016/j.desal.2007.01.021
- Volk, C., Bell, K., Ibrahim, E., Verges, D., Amy, G., Lechevallier, M., 2000. Impact of enhanced and optimized coagulation on removal of organic matter and its biodegradable fraction in drinking water. Water Res. 34, 3247–3257. doi:10.1016/S0043-1354(00)00033-6
- Von Gunten, U., 2018. Oxidation Processes in Water Treatment: Are We on Track? Environ. Sci. Technol. doi:10.1021/acs.est.8b00586
- Vörösmarty, C.J., Green, P., Salisbury, J., Lammers, R.B., 2000. Global Water Resources: Vulnerability from Climate Change and Population Growth Downloaded from.

- Wang, X., Zhang, H., Zhang, Y., Shi, Q., Wang, J., Yu, J., Yang, M., 2017. New Insights into Trihalomethane and Haloacetic Acid Formation Potentials: Correlation with the Molecular Composition of Natural Organic Matter in Source Water. Environ. Sci. Technol. 51, 2015–2021. doi:10.1021/acs.est.6b04817
- Weintraub, M.H., Gealer, R.L., Golovoy, A., Dzieciuch, M.A., Durham, H., 1983. Development of electrolytic treatment of oily wastewater. Environ. Prog. doi:10.1002/ep.670020108
- Westerhoff, P., Aiken, G., Amy, G., Debroux, J., 1999. Relationships between the structure of natural organic matter and its reactivity towards molecular ozone and hydroxyl radicals. Water Res 33, 2265–2276. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0043-1354(98)00447-3
- Westerhoff, P., Yoon, Y., Snyder, S., Wert, E., 2005. Fate of endocrine-disruptor, pharmaceutical, and personal care product chemicals during simulated drinking water treatment processes. Environ. Sci. Technol. 39, 6649–6663. doi:10.1021/es0484799
- Yoshihara, S., Murugananthan, M., 2009. Decomposition of various endocrine-disrupting chemicals at boron-doped diamond electrode. Electrochim. Acta 54, 2031–2038. doi:10.1016/j.electacta.2008.07.006
- Zhang, R., Yang, Y., Huang, C.H., Li, N., Liu, H., Zhao, L., Sun, P., 2016. UV/H2O2 and UV/PDS Treatment of Trimethoprim and Sulfamethoxazole in Synthetic Human Urine: Transformation Products and Toxicity. Environ. Sci. Technol. 50, 2573– 2583. doi:10.1021/acs.est.5b05604
- Zhang, Y., Wang, A., Tian, X., Wen, Z., Lv, H., Li, D., Li, J., 2016. Efficient mineralization of the antibiotic trimethoprim by solar assisted photoelectro-Fenton process driven by a photovoltaic cell. J. Hazard. Mater. 318, 319–328. doi:10.1016/j.jhazmat.2016.07.021

# 6.1 Trace Organic Compound Molecular Structure



Figure A1: Trace organic compound molecular structure. A) Acyclovir, B) Trimethoprim, C) Benzyldimethyldecylammonium Chloride



Figure A2: The impact of thiosulfate quenching  $(0.2 \text{ M S}_2\text{O}_3^-\text{ per 1 M ClO}^-$ , as suggested by Boal and Patsalis (2017)) in simple electrolyte matrices with varying chloride concentrations following electrooxidation for 5 minutes at 14.8 mA/cm<sup>2</sup>. A) acyclovir, B) trimethoprim, and C) BAC-C10. The data show mean values of triplicate experiments and error bars show  $\pm 1$  standard deviation.



Figure A3: The impact of quenching the *model shallow aquifer* with sodium thiosulfate following electrooxidation for 20 minutes at 14.8 mA/cm<sup>2</sup>. Striped bars indicate removal beyond the lowest standard, and are shown at the limit of quantification (~4  $\mu$ g/L for each compound). The data show mean values of triplicate experiments and error bars show ± 1 standard deviation

#### **6.2. Faradaic Efficiency**



Figure A4: Experimental versus theoretical iron generation as a function of electrocoagulation current density. Experiments were conducted in batch conditions where electrolysis was run for 5 minutes. n = 6 for 3.7 mA/cm<sup>2</sup>, n = 4 for 11.1 mA/cm<sup>2</sup>, n = 3 for the remaining current densities.

## 6.3. Pearson Correlation of Simple Electrolyte Matrices

Table A1: Pearson correlation analyses of TOrC removal and the electrical energy demand resulting from electrooxidation for 5 minutes at a current density of 14.8 mA/cm<sup>2</sup> in simple electrolyte water matrices. The r coefficient represents the strength of correlation, and a p value less 0.05 demonstrates statistical significance.

		%	TOrC Ren	noval	Electrical Energy Demands			
Parameter	TOrC	r	p value	Significance	r	p value	Significance	
		coefficient			coefficient			
	ACY	0.377	0.091	x	-0.6987	0.0115	$\checkmark$	
Chloride	TMP	0.579	0.005	$\checkmark$	-0.6559	0.0209	$\checkmark$	
	BAC-	0.1187	0.608	x	-0.09378	0.7719	x	
	C10							
	ACY	-0.157	0.497	x	-0.8646	0.0026	$\checkmark$	
Alkalinity	TMP	-0.538	0.012	$\checkmark$	0.8315	0.0055	$\checkmark$	
	BAC-	-0.1053	0.649	×	0.07526	0.8472	×	
	C10							
	ACY	-0.010	0.963	x	-0.6667	0.0010	$\checkmark$	
Conductivity	TMP	-0.188	-0.414	x	-0.2469	0.2806	x	
	BAC-	-0.208	0.364	x	0.04549	0.8448	×	
	C10							
	ACY	-0.7244	0.0273	$\checkmark$	0.422	0.296	×	
Dissolved	TMP	-0.753	0.01	$\checkmark$	0.6985	0.0050	$\checkmark$	
Organic	BAC-	-0.2965	0.4386	x	0.1154	0.7676	x	
Carbon	C10							

## 6.4. Reactive Oxygen Species Generation

Ozone and hydrogen peroxide were measured during EO treatment of  $HCO_3$ -B to assess their potential roles. Hach Method 8311 was used to measure  $O_3$  production with a DR3900 Hach spectrophotometer. Hach Model HYP-1 test kit was used to measure hydrogen peroxide using a titrimetric method. Figure A3 shows that  $H_2O_2$  and  $O_3$  were generated over the course of electrolysis.



Figure A5:  $H_2O_2$  and  $O_3$  produced during boron-doped diamond electrooxidation of chloride free bicarbonate buffer at a current density of 14.8 mA/cm<sup>2</sup>. The data shown are from single experiments.

## 6.5. Electrical Energy Demand Analysis

The energy demand for electrochemical cell operation ranged from 5.0 to 10.3 kWh/m<sup>3</sup> as a function of water quality and the electrochemical reactors. These values are above the range of conventional treatment discussed in *Section 2.2.3*. These values are only for the electrochemical cell (Table A2), and all other electrical energy demands are normalized to the order of magnitude reduction of each respective TOrC (Table A3 represents simple electrolyte waters and A4 represents model source waters).

Table A2: Energy demands associated with electrochemical cell operations. These values are not normalized to TOrC removal and reflect only the energy demand per volume of water treated.

	Cell Energy Demand (kWh/m <sup>3</sup> )			
Water Matrix	EO	EC-EO		
Model river water	8.6	10.2		
Model lake water	10.3	-		
Model shallow aquifer	5.0	-		
Model deep aquifer	8.3	9.6		

MRW = model river water, MLW = model lake water, MSA = model shallow aquifer, MDA = model deep aquifer, and HCO<sub>3</sub>-B = 3.5 mM bicarbonate buffer

	Electrical Energy Demands, kWh/m <sup>3</sup>								
Water Matrix	ACY			TMP			BAC-C10		
No Chloride	18.1	19.7	18.0	43.2	43.3	59.6	46.2	24.1	19.8
Low Chloride	12.1	13.8	23.1	8.1	8.6	8.5	60.6	35.0	16.1
Mid Chloride	10.1	9.9	10.9	4.1	3.7	3.4	45.9	11.9	7.2
High Chloride	9.8	8.9	13.3	3.3	3.6	3.6	42.4	26.3	24.3
No DOC	13.3	15.2	14.1	25.3	15.6	13.9	16.4	22.9	21.5
Low DOC	41.7	125.0	56.9	34.3	35.3	41.2	10.4	18.7	11.6
High DOC	342**	65.4	60.4	71.2	45.4	44.6	24.7	16.0	17.8
Low Alkalinity	16.3	12.5	14.1	5.6	4.3	6.5	8.7	22.6	36.0
Mid Alkalinity	10.3	11.0	9.3	10.3	8.6	13.8	14.5	98.4	22.8
High Alkalinity	7.8	9.9	8.9	13.4	11.1	11.5	25.2	13.0	43.2

Table A3: Electrical energy demands resulting from electrooxidation for 5 minutes at a current density of 14.8 mA/cm<sup>2</sup> in simple electrolyte water matrices. \* indicate outliers relative to other replicates, according to Grubb's test for outliers, and were not used in subsequent analyses.

Table A4: Electrical energy demands resulting from electrooxidation for 20 minutes at a current density of 14.8 mA/cm<sup>2</sup> in model source water matrices. \* indicate outliers relative to other replicates according to Grubb's test for outliers, and were not used in subsequent analyses.

	Electrical Energy Demands, kWh/m <sup>3</sup>								
Water Matrix	ACY			TMP			BAC-C10		
MRW	83.5	119	98.0	25.0	25.0	22.8	15.8	21.0	10.8
MLW	44.7	59.2	50.6	22.7	32.3	31.1	30.6	24.8	26.7
MSA	6.1	6.7	5.9	3.6	3.5	3.5	31.3	33.9	30.8
MDA	17.4	15.0	15.2	6.5	5.4	5.2	410*	96.3	107
HCO3 - B	57.3	78.2	51.9	69.4	78.3	58.6	311	445	278

## 6.6. Relative Rate Reduction

Equation 3 was used to estimate the impact of scavenging ions on the efficacy of EO in degrading TOrCs (Chaplin, 2014; Crittenden et al., 2012). Values for the second order rate constant of HO• with different compounds (Cl<sup>-</sup>, HCO<sub>3</sub>, DOC, and TOrCs) were taken from Buxton et al. (1988) or estimated using EPIWEB 4.1 EPISUITE.

Relative rate reduction 
$$(R_r) = \left(\frac{k_{R,HO*} \cdot C_R + \sum k_{i,HO*} \cdot C_i}{k_{R,HO*} \cdot C_R}\right)$$
 Equation 3

where,  $k_{R,HO}$ , represents the second order rate constant of the target compound,  $k_{i,HO}$ , represents the second order rate constant of a HO• scavenging compound, and C<sub>i</sub> and C<sub>R</sub> represent the concentration (M) of the scavenger and target compound, respectively. The average molecular formula of humic acid was assumed to be C<sub>187</sub>H<sub>186</sub>O<sub>89</sub>N<sub>9</sub>S based on Anjan et al. (2005).

The corresponding relative rate reduction value can be used to assess the general impact of scavenging ions on the theoretical rate constant of HO• with each ion. As relative rate reduction increases, HO• scavenging increases. As shown in Table A4, the relative order of the waters with respect to scavenger content was: *model river water* > *model shallow aquifer* > *model lake water* > *model deep aquifer* >HCO<sub>3</sub>-B. Based on the estimated scavenging, the matrices hypothesized to have the highest removal of target compounds by HO• (least interference from scavengers) were the HCO<sub>3</sub>-B and *model deep aquifer*.

Water Matrix	ACY	ТМР	BAC-C10
Model lake water	20.2	13.2	30.5
Model river water	24.3	15.8	36.6
Model deep aquifer	18.3	11.9	27.6
Model shallow aquifer	23.0	15.0	34.7
Bicarbonate Buffer (HCO <sub>3</sub> -B)	18.0	11.8	27.2

 A4: Relative rate reduction values (unitless) for each model water matrix.

Compound	$k HO$ , $M^{-1} s^{-1}$
HCO <sub>3</sub> -	8.50E+06 <sup>a</sup>
Cl-	4.30E+09 <sup>a</sup>
DOC	4.50E+08 <sup>b</sup>
ACY	4.78E+10 °
TMP	1.23E+11 °
BAC	2.29E+10 °
	1 (1000) 11

Table A5: Rate constants used for calculation of relative rate reduction.

<sup>a</sup> From Buxton et al. (1988), as reported by Crittenden et al. (2012).
<sup>b</sup> From Chaplin (2014).
<sup>c</sup> Values from EPI SUITE V. 4.1 (USEPA, 2012b).

## 6.7. The Impact of Electrochemical Treatment on pH



Figure A6: pH before and after electrooxidation. The bars show mean values of triplicate experiments and error bars show  $\pm 1$  standard deviation.



Figure A7 Initial pH, post-electrocoagulation (EC) pH, and post-electrooxidation (EO) pH. The bars show mean values of triplicate experiments and error bars show  $\pm 1$  standard deviation.